
The Marine Rearguard on Bataan
hree days after the bombardment of Cavite,
Lieutenant Colonel William T. Clement, Fleet
Marine Officer, U.S. Asiatic Fleet, was summoned to

Manila for talks with General Douglas MacArthur and his
chief of staff, Major General Richard K. Sutherland. Both
Army generals were persistent in their efforts to obtain the
release of the Marines in the Philippines from Navy to
Army control. MacArthur wanted a battalion of Marines
to relieve a battalion of the 31st U.S. Infantry to guard his
U.S. Army Forces in the Far East (USAFFE) Headquarters
and to occupy a section of the Philippine capital.

This matter was successfully resisted until 20
December. The rapid advance of the Japanese southward
from Lingayen Gulf led the USAFFE commander to aban-
don Manila and to declare it an open city. He departed on
24 December, and on the following day located an admin-
istrative USAFFE Headquarters in Malinta Tunnel on
Corregidor.

However, some Marines were still destined to perform
guard duty for the U.S. Army. On 5 January 1942,
MacArthur established a forward tactical USAFFE echelon
on Bataan, under the command of Brigadier General
Richard J. Marshall. It was sited at KM (Kilometer) 187.5,
northwest of Mariveles, near a quarry at the junction of
West Road and Rock Road. On the following day, newly
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promoted Marine First Lieutenant William F. Hogaboom,
commanding antiaircraft Battery A, 3d Battalion, 4th
Marines, from Cavite, mounted out an interior guard
there.

Lieutenant Hogaboom was relieved of this duty on 16
January when his battery received new orders to join the
Naval Battalion at the Quarantine Station at Mariveles.
For the next month or so, Marine Batteries A and C were a
part of this battalion engaged in combat with a Japanese
landing force which had come ashore on Longoskawayan
Point behind the American lines.

On 10 January General MacArthur made his only visit
to the front lines on Bataan. Six days later, First Lieutenant
Ralph C. Mann, Jr., Company F; and First Lieutenant
Michiel Dobervich, Company E, received verbal orders
from Lieutenant Colonel Herman R. Anderson, command-
ing the 2d Battalion, 4th Marines, on Corregidor, to estab-
lish a new guard at the forward USAFFE echelon, now
called Signal Hill. The detachment consisted of 43
Marines, apparently selected at random from throughout
the 4th Marines, together with five Filipinos.

The Marine guard had just completed its security pre-
cautions when another Japanese force landed at Aglaloma
Point to the north and sent patrols forward toward Pucot
Hill. Sniper fire was received from two directions at the



headquarters on 24 January. Lieutenant Dobervich led a
patrol of 11 Marine riflemen and one Browning Automatic
rifleman out to Pucot Hill seeking any enemy who may
have infiltrated the Naval Battalion's lines. No contacts
were made and the patrol returned at dark.

The TJSAFFE Headquarters moved inland on 27
January, reportedly because of proximity to the offensive
being conducted in the vicinity of Pucot Hill and
Longoskawayan Point. The new location was KIvI 167.5,
north of the road exiting Mariveles to Bataan's East Road
and east of Hospital No. 1. The site was nicknamed "Little
Baguio," after the elite summer resort in northern Luzon.

Dobervich described the area as that occupied by
USAFFE's Service Command, the headquarters com-
pound being entered through a motor pool north of the
highway. An ammunition dump was located to its east
side, dangerously near the hospital. Facilities were sparse,
one or two corrugated buildings and squad tents clustered
beneath a towering canopy of trees, effectively screened
from aerial observation. The Marines' tent camp and mess
were located north of the headquarters. The whole was
situated on a flat arm of an extinct volcano southeast of the
Mariveles Mountains.

Marines in the detachment with bolos cut a perimeter
path from the jungle around the headquarters at approxi-
mately 500 yards from the outermost structure. Barbed
wire was implanted on the outside and smooth wire inside
the path to guide sentries in the darkness. Rocks in cans
mounted on trip wires strung outside the wire were occa-
sionally disturbed by iguanas, wild pigs, and pythons.
Marines manned eight outposts in the perimeter. Watches
were four hours on, four off.

Several Marines later testified to the tedium of this duty
There were no incursions this far south by infiltrating
Japanese. By this time, rations had been cut more than
half, and the content of the ration apparently varied with-
in the command structure. Private First Class James 0.
Faulkner compared the tantalizing smell of frying bacon in
the commanding general's cook tent to the unappetizing
and unsalted messkit of boiled rice he was repeatedly
issued from one day to the next. Apparently some
Marines messed with the Army; others recall having got-
ten all their meals from the Marine galley. The former
were probably one sergeant, one corporal, and two pri-
vates first class who were assigned as radio operators at
Station WTA, USAFFE Headquarters, from January
through mid-March.

Former Private Earl C. Dodson was a driver for
Lieutenant Mann and acted as mess sergeant. Several of
their trips were to acquire rations from the Navy tunnels
at Mariveles. He recalls their vehicle being repeatedly
strafed by the Japanese. He said that the lieutenant tried
to get transferred to Marine antiaircraft duty, feeling that
his talents were being wasted in the guard detachment.
Mann worried about his wife, the daughter of an
American official in the consul's office in Shanghai,
whom he had married there. Mrs. Mann accompanied
him to the Philippines in November 1941 and was now a

prisoner of the Japanese in Manila.
Lieutenant Dobervich also made trips for supplies,

traveling three times to Corregidor, where his friend, First
Lieutenant Jack Hawkins, Company H, 2d Battalion,
assisted him in acquiring them. However, at the end of
February, Dobervich was laid up with malaria for two
weeks at Hospital No. 1.

On 22 February, Washington notified General
MacArthur that he was relieved as commander in the
Philippines and that he was to make his way to Australia.
Command of the Philippines devolved onto Major
General Jonathan M. Wainwright, of I Corps, and USAFFE
was redesignated U.S. Forces in the Philippines (USFIP).
When MacArthur departed on 12 March, Wainwright took
command of the newly formed Luzon Force at the Little
Baguio headquarters. However, when he was promoted
to lieutenant general on 20 March, he moved to USFIP
Headquarters in Malinta Tunnel on Corregidor.
Wainwright selected Major General Edward P. King, Jr., to
command Luzon Force Headquarters and its combat
forces.

Late in March, MacArthur urged Wainwright by radio
to make a major counter-attack northward with both his
corps to capture Japanese supplies at Olongapo and
Dinalupihan. Before any such plans could be formulated,
the enemy struck first with fresh troops. Japanese aircraft
became more aggressive, one strike coming straight to
Hospital No. 1, plainly marked with a Red Cross, and
bombing it without mercy Manila's Japanese radio
announced on 31 March that the raid was "unintentional,"
but the mistake was repeated in following days.

Luzon Force Headquarters and its Marine Detachment
came in for their share of subsequent bombings, and
Japanese artillery began to find the range. Lieutenant
Dobervich urged his Marines to dig foxholes and trenches
and directed that a large shelter be tunneled into a nearby
hillside. This was enlarged until the Marines turned min-
ers ran into a huge rock in their path which discouraged
further progress.

The Japanese Easter offensive broke through the front
lines between the two corps on Good Friday and armed
barges struck the rear flanks from Manila Bay By 8 April,
the II Corps eastern front had become chaos and,
unknown to Wainwright, General King determined to sur-
render Bataan's battered remnants. Marines at the Luzon
Force state that they were aware of some of the proceed-
ings, that they saw officers in a staff car with a white flag
depart the camp and proceed northward through streams
of troops retreating southward.

At about 2130, 8 April, a severe earthquake shook the
peninsula, and the Marines retreated into their prepared
tunnel. An hour later, the first of many explosions
occurred, when the Navy blew up the USS Cano pus, the
Dewey Drydock, and its other installations at Mariveles.
Army demolition followed, TNT charges setting off the
ammunition dump between headquarters and Hospital
No. 1 and engineer and quartermaster stores in the adja-
cent Service Command. The blasts upset the headquarters
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building, scattering its furniture. At daylight, it was found
that all the overhead tree cover had disappeared. On
emerging from their sanctuary, the Marines found the rock
blocking their tunnel dislodged and free, and they consid-
ered themselves fortunate at not being buried alive.

Dovervich recalls that someone on General King's staff
advised the other officers to remove their insignia of rank,
or to hide it in their clothing. They were also told to rid
themselves of any Japanese souvenirs or currency. One
Army officer did not, and Dobervich later witnessed his

execution. Some enlisted men say they stacked their arms.
Others threw their rifle bolts into the jungle and mangled
or completely destroyed the remainder of their small
arms. All remaining rations were issued. Some gorged,
but others made an attempt to hide and save them for a
later time. It seems that no one thought to acquire extra
water, for they had no way of knowing what lay ahead.
They sat down to await the arrival of the Japanese.

Richard A. Long

Hart declined to use "his"
Marines in such a way. At 1940, 15
December, the USAFFE staff met
and proposed to convert the 4th
Marines into two regiments, and
combine them with two regiments
of the Philippine Constabulary.
The brigade would be used as a
reinforcement unit for USAFFE.
The following day, Lieutenant
Colonel William T. Clement, Fleet
Marine Officer, responded by
agreeing to the merger with the
Philippine troops, and to provide
them with ammunition and sup-
plies. Each Marine battalion
would absorb one or two compa-
nies of Philippine troops and
Marines would command the
Philippine regiments, with the
division commanded by Colonel
Howard.

However, Admiral Hart and
Colonel Clement changed the pro-
posal and convinced Lieutenant
General Richard K. Sutherland,
MacArthur's chief of staff, that the
Marines still needed field training
after their long stay in Shanghai.
Sutherland then decided that the
4th Marines would be used for
beach defense on Corregidor.
Indeed, on 2 January, MacArthur
stated to his staff that the
"Marines had no tactical training
and were not suitable for use as a
tactical combat unit."

Admiral Hart informed How-
ard that the 4th Marines was now
under Army tactical command.
Howard proceeded with Colonel
Clement to USAFFE Headquarters
and reported directly to Mac-

Arthur for duty. MacArthur sent
him to General Sutherland who
provided him orders to prepare
for duty on Corregidor. Howard,
realizing the assignment would
take the 4th Marines away from
the front, asked that his regiment
be allowed to guard the western
beaches on Bataan. Sutherland
replied that he wanted "the 4th
Marines to take over the beach
defenses [of Corregidorl as soon
as possible."

On 20 December, Admiral
Rockwell ordered Lieutenant
Colonel Adams to move his battal-
ion to the Naval Section Base at
Mariveles. The next day, two bat-
teries and two companies of the
1st Separate Marine Battalion
were ordered to withdraw
promptly from Cavite to
Mariveles. Lieutenant Carter B.
Simpson remembered, "The
Colonel with orders and the trans-
portation arrived within one
minute of one another." The 1st
Separate Marine Battalion com-
pleted its evacuation of the Cavite-
Sangley Point area on the night of
Christmas day with the last
detachment finishing the destruc-
tion of the Navy Yard.

Private First Class James 0.
Faulkner drove a truck loaded
with two tons of candy destined
for the Navy commissary at
Mariveles. Faulkner noticed the
men from his unit resting along
the road and pulled over beside
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them. He quietly informed them
of the contents of his truck and
then said loudly, "I'm going to get
something to eat. I don't want to
see you getting on my truck!" The
Marines understood his meaning
and when Faulkner returned, the
truck's load was considerably
lighter.

On 24 December Lieutenant
Colonel Donald Curtis, the regi-
mental executive officer, was
directed to move Lieutenant
Colonel "Red" Anderson's 2d
Battalion to Mariveles without
delay. Curtis began work at once.
At 1800, 24 December, Captain
Benjamin L. McMakin, Company
F commander, called his officers
and noncommissioned officers
together and said simply, "Gentle-
men, it is Christmas Eve. We
move all night." The 2d Battalion
boarded trucks and began the
move to Mariveles at 2000 with
truck convoys continuing for the
following two days and nights to
move the regimental ammunition
and equipment. As night fell on 26
December all personnel, equip-
ment, and supplies were in place
in the jungle near Mariveles.

Admiral Rockwell ordered a
detail of Marines under Major
Frank P. Pyzick to destroy the
Olongapo Navy Yard. At the first
blast of explosives, the power-
plant engineer cut off all power to
the Yard and disappeared. All
demolition work came to a stop
until a Marine working party
restored power to detonate the
remaining explosive charges. The
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obsolete cruiser USS Rochester was
towed into Subic Bay and sunk by
depth charges blowing open her
hull. The PBY ramp was destroyed
and all aviation fuel and subma-
rine supplies were burned.

"The hard part," remembered
Private First Class Wilbur M.
Marrs, "was destroying all the
footlockers that had the deep
carved chests inside filled with
ivory, jade, silk robes, and other
souvenirs" that were carefully
brought out of Shanghai. Marrs
later wrote, "Buildings and equip-
ment that were not blown up, we
poured fuel on, including these
footlockers." All structures, except
for the main building of the
Marine Barracks, were left in
flames as the Marine detachment
departed the Navy Yard for the
last time at 1900, 26 December.

On Christmas Eve, Japanese air-
craft struck Mariveles, concentrat-
ing on the Free French freighter,
S.S. Si Kiang. The ship was inter-
ned in Mariveles harbor, and a
guard of eight 1st Battalion Ma-
rines prevented the crew from
moving the vessel. A U.S. Army
quartermaster proceeded to un-
load the ship's cargo of gasoline
and flour, both of which were bad-
ly needed ashore. This daylight
movement attracted the attention
of the Japanese who bombed the
Si Kiang, sending her to the bot-
tom of Mariveles Bay. The 1st
Battalion suffered its first losses of
the war: two Marines killed and
three wounded. The dead were
buried with full military honors,
in a somber ceremony presided
over by Regimental Chaplain
Herbert R. Trump, ChC, USN.

The celebration of Christmas
varied throughout the 4th Ma-
rines. Captain John Clark later
wrote, this was "probably the
worst Christmas I ever spent. No

food. Nip airplanes bombing over
the bay and flying over our area
all day long. No damned fun."
Marines of the 1st Battalion
enjoyed a turkey dinner at Mar-
iveles. Corporal George Bue and
other members of Headquarters
Company, 2d Battalion, feasted on
peas and oatmeal as their
Christmas dinner.

For Private First Class James 0.
Faulkner, the holiday began by
driving a truck in the last convoy
out of the Cavite Navy Yard. The
vehicles halted near the village of
San Roque when the astonished
drivers saw Filipinos cooking
doughnuts alongside the road.
Enterprising villagers salvaged
the flour from a ship sunk in Ma-
nila Bay and the hungry Marines
happily joined in the holiday feast.

Lieutenant Colonel "Red"
Anderson was driving toward
Mariveles with some of his 2d Bat-
talion headquarters staff, when he
noticed a bombed-out Filipino
cabaret outside Olongapo. Ander-
son ordered the vehicle stopped
and took his men inside to cele-
brate the holiday and "have a
Christmas drink." The headquar-
ters party found the walls half

gone, but the bar still intact and
everyone soon had a drink in
hand. Anderson then called for the
singing of Christmas carols, and
the group gathered around First
Lieutenant Sidney F. Jenkins as he
played the cabaret piano. All
joined in the singing as they
sipped their drinks. The high
point of the party was when
Private First Class Joseph E.
"Frenchy" Dupont sang "Adeste
Fideles," completely in Latin. For
a brief moment, the war was for-
gotten.

Four islands protected the
mouth of Manila Bay from attack.
Corregidor, the largest island, was
fortified prior to World War I with
powerful coastal artillery and
named Fort Mills. The tadpole-
shaped island lay two miles from
Bataan, and was only 3-1/2 miles
long and 1-1/2 miles across at its
head. This wide area, known as
Topside, contained most of Fort
Mills' 56 coastal artillery pieces
and installations.

The next feature proceeding
east from Topside was Middle-

The entrance to Naval Base Mariveles after the fall of Bataan.
National Archives Photo NH 73459
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Marine Detachment, Air Warning Service
he 1st Separate Marine Battalion at Cavite provided
antiaircraft and ground protection for all naval
activities there. It manned three 3-inch, .50- caliber

batteries; one 3-inch, .23-caliber battery; and two .50-cal-
iber machine gun batteries. When necessary, enough men
could be mustered to provide infantry protection for the
Navy Yard, the Naval Air Station and Hospital on Sangley
Point and the Naval Air Base at Los Banos.

What is not commonly known, for great secrecy
appears to have surrounded the matter, is that the battal-
ion's communications unit had equipment with the capa-
bility to intercept aircraft by "radio detection." Its
acronym, "radar," would not be freely spoken of in mili-
tary circles until early in 1943.

Marine Lieutenant Colonel Howard L. Davis, at that
time a captain and battalion communications officer, stat-
ed in 1956 that three radar sets had been received at Cavite
in November 1941. Two were SCR-268s, short-range sets
designed to be electronically coupled to Mark IV fire con-
trol directors and thence to searchlight batteries and anti-
aircraft batteries for effectively controlled fire on enemy
aircraft. Unfortunately, the battalion had no fire control
directors. These sets were subsequently used for training
additional personnel at Cavite.

The third set, a long-range mobile SCR-270B, was
designed for early air warning, capable of computing dis-
tance and azimuth, but not altitude, of aircraft. It had been
planned to connect the detachment by a radio network to
the Army Air Corps Air Warning Service facility at Nichols
Field. Its detachment was made up of a few trained tech-
nicians and a majority of security and service personnel.
Warrant Officer John T. Brainard, who arrived in Cavite in
mid-November 1941, commanded the detachment.
Master Technical Sergeant Clarence L. Bjork, an electronics
expert, had reported for duty only two months earlier.

Private First Class Irvin C. Scott, Jr., one of six enlisted
Marines chosen from the 1St and 2d Defense Battalions in
San Diego to attend a formal course in radar at the U.S.
Army's Signal Corps School at Fort Monmouth, New
Jersey, in 1940 and 1941, was the detachment's lone trained
oscilloscope operator. However, in a short time he had
partially trained two other Marines to spell him in coming
months in the closed and secluded operator's van.

The unit's comings and goings within a guarded enclo-
sure next to Cavite's quartermaster supply at the Marine
Barracks were a mystery to its fellow Marines. On 4
December, Gunner Brainard moved his 36-man detach-
ment and one Navy corpsman into the field, borrowing
trucks and tractors from a Philippine Army unit to tow
heavy power and scope vans and one antenna trailer to
Wawa Beach near Nasugbu in Batangas Province, about
100 miles south of Cavite. Here, the detachment was
placed under the direction of then-Colonel Harold H.

George, U.S. Army Air Corps, commanding the V
Interceptor Command, U.S. Army Forces in the Far East
(USAFFE), for training and to augment the aircraft warn-
ing network covering Luzon. The unit remained in place
following the news that Pearl Harbor had been attacked,
technical personnel maintaining a 24-hour watch over
Manila Bay and the nearby China Sea. At mid-morning,
10 December 1941, Scott picked up on his screen an elon-
gated blip unlike anything witnessed in recent training.
Continual tracking brought about the startled realization
that he had spotted a massive airplane formation at
approximately 120 miles to the southwest, approaching
Manila Bay.

Attempts to raise the Sangley Point towers on the radio
were futile. When the duty radioman did succeed in
reaching Army Radio on Corregidor, operators there, hav-
ing never heard of radar, exasperatingly refused to
acknowledge the transmission or to pass the sighting on to
higher headquarters. Cavite was subsequently bombed
into near rubble by succeeding waves of 54 Japanese
bombers. Marine antiaircraft fire was for the most part
ineffective, for the aircraft were beyond its range. More
than 400 Marines, sailors and Filipino workmen were
killed or wounded. The effectiveness of Cavite as a
provider of support to the U.S. Fleet was brought to an
end.

Realizing that the position on Wawa Beach was now
insecure, Brainard moved his radar inland several miles,
near a sugar cane refinery, taking advantage of adjacent
natural jungle cover to camouflage his vehicles and equip-
ment. His caution was rewarded, for several nights later
some of his security riflemen who kept a vigil on the beach
surprised a seaborne Japanese scouting party looking for
the radar emplacement there.

This sole Marine long-range radar became even more
precious, for on the opening day of the war in the Philip-
pines, an identical Army unit at Tha Field, on the west
coast of Luzon, was bombed out of existence. An Army
emplacement at Aparri met the same fate, and another
north of Legaspi was destroyed to keep it from falling into
the hands of Japanese who landed there. Shortly there-
after, Colonel George sent three surviving soldiers from
one of those units to join the Marine detachment.

Meanwhile, few activities continued at Cavite. The Na-
val Hospital moved to Manila, submarines and supply
ships departed, and surviving Marines established biv-
ouacs in the barrio outside the base and at the radio station
on Sangley Point. However, these were also destroyed in
bombings of 19 and 20 December. The 1st Separate Marine
Battalion moved to Mariveles on the tip of Bataan and on
to Corregidor on 26 December, where on 1 January 1942 it
was redesignated 3d Battalion, 4th Marines.

Finding itself virtually isolated from allied organiza-
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tion, and in danger of being cut off by Japanese forces
advancing on Manila from the southeast, the detachment
evacuated its lonely site on Colonel George's orders the
day before Christmas. Despite having found only balky
and antiquated alcohol-burning Filipino trucks, Brainard
succeeded in extracting his secret cargo from the jungle in
separate convoys past a nearly abandoned Cavite. The
unit paused in Manila, now aflame and declared an open
city only to collect what extra supplies it could find. Two
convoys were reunited in the courtyard haven of a
Catholic church on the outskirts of San Fernando on
Christmas Eve. Christmas dinner consisted of hardtack,
cheese spread, and Ovaltine, the missing trucks containing
the regular rations.

On the following day, the power and scope vans joined
the detachment at Orani, upper Bataan Peninsula, along-
side Manila Bay. Brainard selected a well-camouflaged site
in a mango grove at KM (kilometer) 148.5 between Orion
and Limay and began operations. In the 31 days since the
war began, the Boeing B-17 Flying Fortress fleet had been
partially destroyed, and the number of operational Curtiss
P-40 Warhawk fighters was reduced to twelve. The
Japanese had air superiority. Allied antiaircraft capability
was desultory. The mission of the Marine Air Warning
Detachment was changed from defensive to offensive.
Allied aircraft sorties were carefully tracked, and any
other blip on the radar screen was considered an enemy.
U.S. pilots were advised and forewarned by radio to elude
these enemy aircraft and their antiaircraft positions.

The vagaries of war had orphaned the detachment.
Although its personnel had been assigned to
Headquarters Company of the 1st Separate Marine
Battalion, that organization on Corregidor was now
unable to render support. Army and Army Air Corps
quartermasters were reluctant to logistically help them,
and the Navy refused to supply a "detached" unit.

Warrant Officer Brainard therefore directed select
Marines to "reconnoiter," or to scrounge for food, fuel, and
other supplies the length of the peninsula. Their ingenu-
ity was a wonder. In fact, chits signed by Brainard were
issued to non-technical support troops to cover their far-
ranging activities, as well as for several men to accompa-
fly Army tankers to the front lines as "observers."
However, three men were later court-martialed for plun-
dering a foreign vessel disabled offshore but not com-
pletely abandoned. Five men joined Army Captain Arthur
"One Man Army" Wermuth's Filipino Scouts for night
raids on Japanese positions, but Brainard put a stop to this
after one Marine was killed and two wounded. These and
other bold forays earned the Marine Air Warning
Detachment the sobriquet "The Rogues of Bataan." As a
result, the Marine command on Corregidor sent First
Lieutenant Lester A. Schade, Company L, 3d Battalion, 4th
Marines, to Bataan on 17 January to relieve Brainard in
command. Strictness reigned for a few days, until neces-
sity brought back the need to acquire supplies. Brainard
stayed on in a technical capacity.

By the end of January, Japanese advances in the II Army

Corps area on the eastern half of Bataan placed the site of
the detachment in jeopardy. Shells of 240mm artillery had
straddled their position, and spotter aircraft were getting
too close for comfort. They prepared to move again.

Newly promoted Brigadier General George and his
remaining pilots were flying mostly nocturnal missions
with their P-40's from the newly prepared Bataan and
Cabcaben Fields just east of the barrio of Cabcaben.
Brainard chose an elevated site near the flyers' bivouac, on
the northwestern edge of Bataan Field. They began oper-
ations there on 3 February, continuing the mission of
informing American pilots when possible of encroaching
enemy aircraft.

In January 1992, Scott, a retired geologist now living in
Richmond, Virginia, stated that one night in mid-March
1942 he was experimenting with the possiblity of picking
up surface traffic on Manila Bay and succeeded in follow-
ing three American gunboats on patrol out of Corregidor.
General George was elated and wanted to know if he
could do it again. A few nights later he had the satisfac-
tion of tracking a flotilla of small enemy vessels in the bay.
Under cover of darkness and spewing a smokescreen, the
Japanese were attempting an amphibious landing behind
American lines. Scott detected them well out from the
shoreline, and his prompt radio alert enabled pilots, Army
artillery in the vicinity, and the Navy's gunboats to repulse
the enemy. No landing was effected.

A massive Good Friday assault by the Japanese coupled
with a general collapse of American and Filipino lines due
to high casualties, battle fatigue, epidemic disease, and
short rations, resulted in the final evacuation of the Marine
radar unit. Orders received on 8 April directed them to get
their equipment and troops to the docks at Mariveles for
transfer to Corregidor. However, on reaching the cut-off
road from the East to West Road and within sight of their
destination, several factors brought about their disintegra-
tion. First, a tremendous earthquake rocked the entire
peninsula, followed by the Navy and Army blowing up
ships, ammunition, fuel, and other supplies stored in tun-
nels and in the open. Japanese bombers contributed to the
confusion, bombing and strafing service facilities and hos-
pitals, as well as a mass of equipment and humanity
streaming toward the port on all roads and trails.

Finding their path effectively blocked and the last of the
major vessels capable of transporting their radar, men, and
equipment already departed, Brainard directed that the
power, scope, and antenna carriers be properly primed,
charges placed, and set afire. Other organizational vehi-
cles were backed over a cliff onto rocks and surf below.

Pandemonium reigned. Lieutenant Schade released the
men from the unit, each to seek his own means of escape.
Four men had been transferred to Corregidor on 4 April.
An additional five, some together and the others singly,
made their precarious ways to "The Rock," where they
joined the 4th Marines. A few, including Scott, could nei-
ther escape northward, nor find the means to cross the
channel. They were gathered together at the shore by an
Air Corps lieutenant who led them to an assembly area,
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fed them, and promised that a boat was to be sent from
Corregidor. After destroying their small arms, they found
to their dismay that the lieutenant was acting under orders
to surrender them to the enemy. The following morning,

the Japanese marched in and prepared them for what was
later to be notorious as the "Bataan Death March."

Richard A. Long

side, a small plateau containing
more battery positions and bar-
racks. East from Middleside was
Bottomside, the low ground
where a dock area and the civilian
town of San Jose was located.
Further east was headquarters,
hospital, and communication tun-
nels contained within Malinta
Hill. The narrow tail of the island
continued east, with a small land-
ing strip, Kindley Field, until end-
ing among the rocky beaches of
Hooker Point.

Fort Hughes lay on nearby
Caballo Island, and contained 13
heavy guns, while further south
on El Fraile island was Fort Drum,
an island which had been leveled
and reformed into a "concrete bat-
tleship," with two steel turrets
mounting four 14-inch guns. Fort
Frank, containing 14 large-caliber
cannon on Carabao Island, lay
only 500 yards from the Cavite
shoreline and was perhaps most
vulnerable to attack.

At 1000, 26 December, the 4th
Marines began to move to
Corregidor. More than 400
Marines of the 1st Separate Marine
Battalion were loaded on board
lighters and taken across the chan-
nel. They were then transported
by narrow gauge railway to
Middleside Barracks. The forward
echelon of the Headquarters and
Service Companies and the 2d
Battalion loaded on a minesweep-
er and lighters just after darkness
the following day. Shortly after
midnight on 27 December, the 336
Marines and their equipment were
completely unloaded on Corregi-
dor.

Two days later at 2010, the 1st
Battalion and the remainder of the
regiment completed the transfer to
Corregidor's North Dock. A 1st
Battalion Marine private busily
carried a box of .30-caliber ammu-
nition weighing more than 96

pounds to the dock. Lieutenant
Colonel Beecher stepped in front
of the sweating Marine and took
the box out of his hands. He then
dropped the ammunition off the
dock into the water. The private
stared dumbfounded as Beecher
informed him, "You're carrying
blanks; we are not using them
anymore." The 4th took six
months of rations for 2,000 men,
10 units of fire for all weapons, a
two-year supply of summer cloth-
ing, and medicines and equipment
for a 100-bed hospital, to
Corregidor.

Marines were first quartered in
the concrete barracks on Middle-
side. When they inquired of their
Army comrades about protection
from bombing, they were assured
the barracks were bombproof.
Captain John Clark wrote later, "A
feeling of safety and security came
over us as we reached the Rock.
We were told it was impregnable,
and that we had nothing to fear
from Japanese attack."

At 0800, 29 December, Colonel
Howard reported to Major
General George E Moore, com-
manding the Harbor Defenses of
Manila and Subic Bays. He was
immediately appointed com-
manding officer of beach defense,
Corregidor. Howard then began a
prompt inspection of the current
beach defenses.

At 1140 that same day, a flight of
Japanese aircraft approached
Corregidor. Air-raid sirens sound-
ed, but most of the 4th Marines
paid little attention to them,
believing in the safety of
Corregidor's antiaircraft defenses.

Five members of the 4th Marines pose for the camera on Corregidor. All Marines were
required to carry their gas masks at all times should the Japanese use chemical agents.

Department of Defense Photo (USMC) W-PHI-2
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Lieutenant Sidney Jenkins remem-
bered, "bombs screaming to earth
with shattering explosions, the
crack of AA guns, the neat 'plop
plop' of the AA shells bursting all
over the sky. . . there we were, the
whole regiment flat on our bellies
on the lower deck of Middleside
Barracks."

Marines in the upper decks of
Middleside Barracks sprinted for
the lower deck for protection.
Most of the bombs that hit the
building exploded on the second
and third decks, but Private First
Class Don Thompson and 20 other
Marines on the first deck felt an
explosion and a shower of cement
dust. He looked up and saw blue
sky though a hole in the ceiling of
the supposedly bombproof bar-
racks. Bombs continued to fall for
the next two hours. Corporal Verle
W. Murphy died of multiple
wounds to the head and chest
while trying to clear the building,
and nine Marines were wounded
in the attack.

Private First Class Charles R.
Greer and Private Alexander
Katchuck noticed two wounded
men in an abandoned truck. Greer
and Katchuck left their shelter and
drove the truck to the hospital
despite the falling bombs. They
were awarded Silver Star Medals,
the first Marines to be awarded an
Army decoration in World War II,
and the first to be mentioned in
General MacArthur's dispatches.

Bombs destroyed or damaged
the hospital, antiaircraft batteries,
Topside and Middleside Barracks,
the Navy fuel depot, and the offi-
cers club. Smoke cast a black pall
over the island as numerous
wooden buildings caught fire.
Power, water, and communication
lines were disrupted. Total casual-
ties on Corregidor mounted to 20
killed and 80 wounded.

After the Japanese bombing
ended, the 4th Marines was
assembled in front of the barracks

to ascertain casualties. As the men
stood in formation, someone
dragged a sea bag down the stairs
of the barracks, which made a
noise like falling bombs. Instantly,
the men broke and ran "pell mell
back into the safe barracks" only
to reemerge laughing once the ori-
gin of the sound was determined.

Japanese bombers reappeared
over Corregidor at 1134, 2 January,
and bombed the island for more
than three hours. Private First
Class Verdie C. Andrews was
killed by debris from the explo-
sions and six other Marines were
wounded. Periodic bombing con-
tinued over the next four days
resulting in one Marine killed and
another wounded. Only two more
raids occurred in January, allow-
ing the Marines to improve their
positions considerably. On 29
January, Japanese aircraft dropped
only propaganda leaflets which
greatly amused the beach defend-
ers.

On 29-30 December the 4th
Marines moved from its barracks
into field positions. The 1st
Battalion took the east sector, from
Malinta Hill to Hooker Point on
the tail of the island. The 2d

19

Battalion moved into the west sec-
tor and the 1st Separate Marine
Battalion was assigned the middle
sector. On 1 January 1941, this bat-
talion was officially redesignated
3d Battalion, 4th Marines. Forty-
four Marines of the battalion were
detailed for antiaircraft defense
for Batteries Wheeler and Cheney.
In addition, 46 Marines in two pla-
toons of the 3d Battalion under
Second Lieutenant Frederick A.
Hagen were deployed with .30-
and .50-caliber machine guns to
provide antiaircraft fire and beach
defense of Fort Hughes. Another
14 Marines of the 3d Battalion
were deployed to Fort Drum for
the same purpose.

Work began rapidly on con-
struction of beach defenses.
Typical was the reaction of
Lieutenant Colonel Beecher when
he first inspected his defense area.
He later wrote, "The task con-
fronting us was appalling. With
350 men there were 3,500 to 4,000
yards of possible landing beach to
defend." The Marines began to
build barbed wire barriers, tank
traps, bunkers, and trench sys-
tems. Working parties began at
first light in the morning and halt-
ed only at noon for a rest period in
place of lunch. The work pro-
gressed well, slowed only by

Photo courtesy of Dr. Diosdado M. Yap
Japanese aircraft prepare to bomb Corregidor.

Deployment



Japanese shelling, bombing, and
darkness.

Tools were carefully guarded,
as Lieutenant Jenkins remem-
bered, "We took care of our tools
like gems." The Marines ran short
of sandbags, so discarded powder
cans from the costal artillery guns
were filled with dirt and used in
their place. Bottles were filled with
gasoline to make "Molotov cock-
tails," to be dropped over cliffs on
the Japanese. Empty gasoline
drums were filled with dirt and
rock and set up as tank traps on
trails leading from the beach. Each
position was carefully camou-
flaged for protection and dummy
positions were also constructed to
attract enemy fire.

Marines of Company B located
Army aircraft bombs, and wooden
chutes were constructed to drop
the bombs on landing areas. A sec-
ond line of defense and reserve
positions were also built behind
the front line beach defenses, with
the hope of eventual reinforce-
ment.

After the movement of the 4th
Marines to Corregidor in Decem-
ber, there were still Marines on
Bataan. Two antiaircraft batteries
operated in the Mariveles area and

Battalion, 4th Marines during the siege..

formed part of a naval defense
battalion for the southern coast of
Bataan. Battery A, commanded by
First Lieutenant William F. Hoga-
boom, was stationed at the
Mariveles Quarantine Station,
protecting an old Dewey Dry
Dock. The battery consisted of two
officers and 80 men and was
armed with nine machine guns for
low level antiaircraft defense. One
Navy officer and 65 sailors were
attached to the battery. Battery C,
under First Lieutenant Wilfred D.
Holdredge was posted in an aban-
doned rice paddy between the

Navy Section Base and the village
of Mariveles. The battery was
composed of four 3-inch antiair-
craft guns and had an ensign and
40 sailors attached.

General MacArthur learned of
the presence of Marines on Bataan
and ordered Battery A to serve as a
guard for USAFFE Headquarters.
The officer in charge of the Naval
Battalion, Commander Frank J.
Bridget, then directed Lieutenant
Hogaboom to return to duty at
Mariveles instead. On 14 January,
MacArthur wrote directly to
Admiral Rockwell requesting the
suspension of Bridget's order.
Rockwell replied the same day
that Battery A had yet to be
relieved of its duties at the
Mariveles Section Base, and was
not yet under Army direction.
MacArthur ended the dispute by
issuing Field Order Number 6,
assigning two officers and 40
enlisted men from Corregidor to
serve as guards for USAFFE
Headquarters, relieving Battery A

At 0800, 23 January, the aircraft
lookout on Mt. Pucot reported to
Commander Bridget that a
Japanese seaborne landing had
been made on Longoskawayan

Austin C. Shofner Papers, Personal Papers Collection, MCHC
Middleside Barracks, March 1942. The barracks housed the reserve company of the 2d

Col Howard decorates PFC Charles R. Geer and Pvt Alexander Katchuk with Silver
Star Medals for their heroism during the first bombing of Corregidor.

Department of Defense Photo (USMC) COR-11000
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Point, 2,000 yards west of
Mariveles. Bridget ordered
Lieutenants Hoidredge and
Hogaboom to move to the point
and confirm the landing. Japanese
strength was estimated at only one
squad. Unfortunately, Bridget
failed to inform the two lieu-
tenants that two Marine patrols
would be in the area. Holdredge
and Hogaboom had no knowl-
edge of each other's movements

Platoon Sergeant Robert A.
Clement was ordered by Bridget
to command a hastily gathered
platoon of 36 sailors to support the
two Marine lieutenants. Clement
asked for another Marine noncom-
missioned officer, whom he did
get, and led his men into the jun-
gle. Sergeant Clement deployed
his men in loose formation and
moved toward Longoskawayan
Point. In a few minutes, he heard a
sailor calling, "Hey, Sarge!" "Hey
Sarge!" Clement quickly ran over
to him. The sailor held up his rifle
and asked, "Sarge, how do you get
the bullets in this thing." Clement
rapidly held school for the sailor
and the platoon moved on.

Clement's men soon reached
the beach where they came upon
the Japanese supply area. More
than 150 rifles were neatly stacked

as well as Lister bags of fresh
water hanging from poles. Two
Japanese cooks were the only
enemy in sight and these men ran
at the approach of the Americans.
Clement ordered each of his men
to carry off one of the rifles and
returned to report his success.
Japanese machine guns caught the
patrol in an ambush a short dis-
tance up the trail, and Clement
and a Navy lieutenant were hit in
the initial exchange of gunfire.

The firing alerted the two
Marine patrols. At the sound of
battle both Hoidredge and
Hogaboom deployed. They met
scattered Japanese patrols and
drove the Japanese back toward
the coast, towards Clement's men.
Machine gun fire hit the Marines,
killing Private First Class Quentin
R. Sitton. Despite the Japanese fire,
the two forces joined and together
withdrew to a blocking position
on the ridge between Mariveles
and Longoskawayan Point.
Bridget gathered the men avail-
able at the Section Base and rein-
forced the detail of the two Marine
lieutenants with 30 sailors. At this
point, the Marine commanders
believed they had encountered
only about a platoon of the enemy.

On 24 January the Marines and
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sailors again advanced on the
point. Strong Japanese resistance
was encountered and rifle fire and
grenades were exchanged be-
tween the two forces. At the first
sight of a hand grenade, a Marine
shouted, "Grenade!" and dove for
cover. The sailors stood looking
around, asking, "Where?" The
untrained sailors learned quickly
how to take cover thereafter.
Lieutenant Hoidredge came upon
a Japanese light artillery position
and maneuvered to engage the
enemy. He soon realized his men
were behind enemy lines and
pulled back to the main Marine
position. Firing was spasmodic
the rest of the day and at dusk the
Americans pulled back to their
blocking position.

The two lieutenants realized
they needed more men to engage
the enemy the following day and
requested reinforcements from
Corregidor. On the morning of 25

A Marine receives a haircut from a
Filipino barber during a lull in the
shelling and bombing.

Two Marines try to catch up on their reading during a lull in the bombardment.
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January a machine-gun platoon
and an 81mm-mortar platoon
arrived under the command of
First Lieutenant Michael E.
Peshek. Marine Gunner Harold D.
Ferrell directed two 81mm mor-
tars on the positions the Japanese
occupied during the previous
day's engagement. By midafter-
noon the Marines again moved
toward the points, Hogaboom to
Lapiay Point and Holdredge to
Longoskawayan Point. Hoga-
boom found no enemy, but
Holdredge's men were met by an
ambush and had heavy losses.
Holdredge and 11 enlisted
Marines were wounded and
Private First Class Warren J.
Carver was killed.

The Marines again withdrew to
their blocking position and shortly
after midnight, 12-inch mortars
from Corregidor pounded
Longoskawayan Point. On the
morning of 26 January, Marine

mortars combined with Filipino
artillery again hit the Japanese
defensive positions. The 60 to 75
Marines and 130 sailors probed
the Japanese defenses, but the
attack became disorganized. The

Japanese counterattacked and
again the Americans withdrew.
Hogaboom reported that "we
could not hope to continue the
attack or even hold our ground
with the troops at our disposal."

A platoon of Company H, 2d Battalion, 4th Marines, commanded by 2dLt Michael E. Peschek, moves ammunition and weapons to
Longoskawayan Point to support the attack there in January 1942.
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Department of Defense Photo (USMC) OOR-11001

Two Marines relax outside a bunker on Corregidor before the heavy Japanese shelling
destroyed most of the foliage on the island.
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Commander Bridget responded
by ordering Hogaboom to dig in
and prepare for another attack in
the morning.

As the tired men returned to
their positions they were met by
the 1st Battalion, 57th Infantry
(Philippine Scouts), who relieved
them. The remainder of the Naval
Battalion withdrew to Mariveles
and three days later the Philippine
Scouts had cleaned out the
Japanese landing force. The pla-
toon that the Marines initially
thought had landed turned out to
be a reinforced battalion with
attached artillery. These Japanese
were part of a larger landing force
but had become separated during
the night of 22-23 January and
landed unsupported on Longosk-
awayan Point.

Battery A moved to Corregidor
on 17 February, leaving a Marine
Air Warning Detachment, the
USAFFE Guard, and Battery C as
the only Marines remaining on
Bataan. Disease became a problem
for Battery C, as Lieutenant
Simpson recalled, "the heat was
terrific, malaria cropped out
among the men every day or so,
yet we had to stay manned every
day all day because of constant

enemy air activity." The battery
often left one gun unmanned to
have full crews on the remaining
guns.

On 6 February, Japanese artil-
lery opened fire on Corregidor
and the fortified islands from posi-
tions in Cavite Province. The forts
were shelled eight more days and
bombed twice in February.
Occasional shelling and bombing
hit the fortified islands until 15
March, when the Japanese began
preparations to renew their offen-
sive on Bataan. The bombing and
artillery raids now continued
unabated until the end of the
siege. The Japanese conducted
attacks spaced over every 24-hour
period after 24 March to prevent
any rest by the defenders.
Japanese harassing artillery fires,
conducted every 25-30 minutes
throughout the night, caused the
Marines to dub the annoying can-
non "Insomnia Charlie." The
artillery spotting balloon over
Bataan was nicknamed "Peeping
Tom."

The events of 30 March typify
the constant Japanese bombard-
ment. There were two periods of
shelling, beginning at 0950 and

1451, and six bombing raids,
beginning at 0040 and spaced
throughout the day. One Marine,
Private First Class Kenneth R.
Paulin of Company M, 3d
Battalion, was killed during the
day by shelifire from the Cavite
shore. The bombing raids finally
ended at 2205. The attacks were
renewed at 0102 on the same
schedule, except 10 bombing raids
occurred on 31 March.

At this time, the major problems
facing Major General Jonathan
Wainwright, USA, commander of
U.S. Forces on the Bataan
Peninsula, were dwindling food
supply and an increased disease
rate. By March, the daily ration of
food for the men on Bataan was
1,000 calories with food for
Corregidor rationed to last until
the end of June 1942. On 27 March,
Wainwright telegraphed Mac-
Arthur in Australia to report the
June deadline and asked for sup-
plies. He also stated that "with
ample food and ammunition we
can hold the enemy in his present
position, I believe, indefinitely."

On 1 April, General Wainwright
recognized that little or no food
could arrive through the Japanese
blockade and ordered a new
reduced ration. The 4th Marines
and other defenders of Corregidor
now consumed 30.49 ounces of
food per day: 8 ounces of meat, 7
ounces of flour, 4 ounces of veg-
etables, 3 ounces of beans and
cereals, 2.5 ounces of rice, 3 ounces
of milk, and approximately 3
ounces of miscellaneous food-
stuffs.

"We were hungry all the time,"
remembered Private First Class
Ben L. Lohman, "We ate mule
meat . . . when the mules were
killed in the bombing . . . they'd
bring the carcasses down and
we'd eat 'em." Drinking water
was distributed only twice a day
in powder cans, but bombing and
shelling often interrupted the

An unexploded bomb at Middleside, Corregidor, March 1942.
Austin C. Shofner Papers, Personal Papers Collection, MCHC
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resupply. The staple food for the
4th Marines was cracked wheat,
sometimes made into dumplings,
sometimes served with syrup.
The continued lack of a proper
diet created major problems for
the 4th Marines, as men were
weakened and lacked reliable
night vision. Some Marines lost up
to 40 pounds during the bombard-
ment.

On 9 April, Bataan fell to the
Japanese after a final offensive
broke through the USAFFE
defenses trapping more than
75,000 men. Battery C managed to
escape at the last minute, but the
Marine guards at USAFFE head-
quarters and the Air Warning
Detachment were taken prisoner,
and endured the infamous Bataan
Death March. The Japanese wast-
ed little time before focusing their
attention on Corregidor, intensify-
ing their bombardment of the
island the same day Bataan fell.

Although food was in short
supply on Corregidor, ammuni-
tion was relatively plentiful. As of
7 April, the island had 5,177,900
rounds of armor piercing, clipped,
and tracer .30-caliber ammunition

and a total of 161,808 rounds of
.50-caliber ammunition. Gen
Wainwright wrote, "Our flag still
flies on this beleaguered fortress."
and added in his memoir, "I meant
to see it keep flying."

As men became available on
Corregidor from January until

after the fall of Bataan, they were
integrated into the 4th Marines to
support beach defense. In
February, 58 sailors formerly of
the USS Canopus were organized
as a reserve company. Lieutenant
Clarence Van Ray with Platoon
Sergeant Leslie D. Sawyer and
Sergeant Ray K. Cohen trained
and equipped the sailors into an
efficient fighting force. Ten
Marines and 40 more sailors were
added to the company after the
fall of Bataan.

The largest group of reinforce-
ments arrived after the fall of
Bataan. In the days following 9
April, 72 officers and 1,173 enlist-
ed men from more than 50 differ-
ent organizations were assigned to
the 4th Marines, making the
Marine regiment one of the most
unusual units in Marine Corps
history. These reinforcements
included members of the Navy,
the Army, the Philippine Army,
and Philippine Scouts. Sailors
stranded on land after the loss of
their ships found themselves
alongside engineers, tankers, and
aviators whose units were cap-
tured on Bataan. Filipino Scouts

Department of Defense Photo (USMC) 58736
LtCol Herman R. Anderson stands on the beach on Corregidor with the assembled offi-
cers of 2d Battalion, 4th Marines and several Filipino officers. Note the thick layers of
oil on the beaches from ships sunk in Manila Bay.

A Marine shows his friends his portion of a resupply of precious cigarettes brought into
Corregidor by submarine.
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A new supply of cigarettes has just arrived in the Philippines and the Marines are given their ration along with chow.

were assigned with members of
the islands' Constabulary to the
4th Marines. Unfortunately, very
few of the reinforcements were
trained or equipped for ground
combat. By 29 April, the 4th
Marines numbered 229 officers
and 3,770 men, of whom only
about 1,500 were Marines.

With Bataan on the brink of
falling, Captain John H. S. Dessez,
the commander of the Navy Base
at Mariveles requested permission
to transfer his 500 sailors to
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Corregidor. Approval was grant-
ed with the condition that these
men would be part of the beach
defense force. On 10 April, the 4th
Battalion was formed under the
command of Major Francis H.
"Joe" Williams. His command
was built with nine Army officers
and 16 Navy officers and warrant
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officers commanding 272 enlisted
men. This joint service battalion
bivouacked in Government
Ravine near Battery Geary and
began to train for ground combat.

Four companies were organized
in the battalion and lettered Q, R,
S, and T. Companies Q and R were
commanded by Army officers and
S and T by Navy officers. Rifles
still packed in cosmoline, a greasy
protective coating, were issued to
the sailors. This presented inter-
esting cleaning problems to the
inexperienced mariners. How-
ever, rifles were all that was issued
to the battalion in the way of
equipment. There were no hel-
mets, cartridge belts, or even first-
aid kits.

Williams at once began wea-
pons training for his sailors. With
no rifle range available, the blue-
jackets used floating debris in
Manila Bay as targets on which to
sight in their rifles. Some of the
Navy personnel had not fired a
weapon in almost 20 years. Train-
ing proceeded with cover and con-
cealment, and small unit tactics.
Evening lectures were given by
men experienced in combat on
Bataan. The accelerated infantry
training by the battalion was

punctuated by the daily shelling
and the fact that each man felt
"that this battalion would be used
where the going was the roughest
• . . . The chips were down and
there was no horseplay."

Lieutenant Colonel Beecher
now commanded 360 Marines,
500 Filipinos, approximately 100

American sailors, and 100
American soldiers, totaling 1,024
effective fighting men. These
troops were armed with the 1903
Springfield rifle, grenades, BARs,
four 37mm guns, and eight .30-cal-
iber machine guns. A few 60mm
mortars were available, as well as
.50-caliber machine guns taken
from immobilized ships. They
were emplaced to defend the
beaches. Additionally, the Philip-
pine Scouts had mounted a few
75mm guns. Initially, the 37mm
and 75mm guns could not be tra-
versed quickly enough that a fast
moving boat could not easily
escape their fire.

The Japanese shelling caused
serious damage to the beach de-
fenses, and casualties among the
officers and men of the battalion,
but most of the heavy weapons
were still intact. As of 1 May the
battalion had lost only four
machine guns and eight cases of
.30-caliber ammunition. Far more
serious was the loss of the water
supply and a complete loss of the
field communication lines.
Caches of rations were buried or
received direct hits from lucky

Marines break for one of their two meals a day on Corregidor.

Marines teach Filipino aviation cadets the fundamentals of a water-cooled .30-caliber
Browning machine gun.
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shells. Casualties among officers
and men were equally serious:
Major Harry C. Lang, command-
ing Company A, was killed;
Captain Paul A. Brown of Com-
pany B and one of his platoon
commanders were wounded; one
of Company D's officers was
wounded; and three Army officers
with the reserve company also
were wounded. Army officers re-
placed the commanders but the
men had little confidence in them.
This acute loss of experienced
leaders would be critical in the
coming fighting.

The area held by the 1st Battal-
ion was heavily wooded when
first occupied in December and
dotted with coastal artillery bar-
racks and other buildings. By
early May, the area was complete-
ly barren of vegetation and scat-
tered with the ruins of shelled
buildings. Sergeant Louis E.
Duncan later remembered, "there
was dust a foot thick," covering
the entire area.

On 1 May Beecher had reported
to Colonel Howard that the beach
defenses on the eastern portion of
the island were practically

destroyed by the Japanese bom-
bardment and that reiiair under
the continuing fire would be
impossible. Beach wire had been
repeatedly holed, tank traps filled
in, and all the heavy guns of the
1st Battalion were in temporary
emplacements as the initial ones
had been spotted and destroyed
by the enemy. The Japanese fire
was so accurate that the men
could be fed only at night.

Colonel Howard told this to
General Wainwright, who said
only that he would never surren-
der. When Howard told Beecher
this, he replied, "I pointed out to
Colonel Howard that nothing had
been said about surrender; I was
merely reporting conditions as
they existed in my sector."

The enemy bombing and
shelling continued with unrelent-
ing ferocity. Japanese aircraft flew
614 missions from 28 April until 5
May, dropping 1,701 bombs total-
ing 365.3 tons of explosive. At the
same time 9 240mm howitzers, 34
149mm howitzers, and 32 other

Department of Defense Photo (USMC) 115.07A

Department of Defense Photo (USMC) 58735

LtCol Curtis T. Beecher and his runner
pause during one of his daily inspections
of 1st Battalion defenses.

artillery pieces pounded
Corregidor day and night. Most of
the Japanese artillery was based
on Bataan with one reinforced bat-
talion firing from Cavite Province

On 2 May, a 240mm shell
exploded the magazines of Battery
Geary, causing massive casualties
to the Army crews manning the
guns. A Marine rescue party ran to
assist in clearing the casualties
from the resulting fires. Major
Francis H. Williams and Captain
Austin C. Shofner were the first
two Marines into the battery, and
both were seriously burned about
the hands, face, and ankles in res-
cuing survivors from the blaze.
Both officers refused to be evacu-
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On 29 April the 61st Infantry
Regiment of the 4th Imperial
Japanese Army Division was select-
ed to be the first force to be landed
on Corregidor. Supporting the
infantry were elements of the 23d
Independent Engineer Battalion and
the 1st Battalion of the 4th Engineer
Regiment. Once on shore, elements
of the 1st Company, Independent

A Marine platoon sergeant of the 4th Marines instructs Filipino cadets in the use of
the Lewis machine gun.
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Department of Defense Photo (USMC) Phi-9
Col Samuel L. Howard, right, inspects
the beach defenses on Corregidor with
LtCol Herman R. Anderson, left, com-
mander of 2d Battalion, 4th Marines, and
MajGen George F. Moore, USA, center,
overall commander of the Corregidor
defenses.

Mortar Battalion, the 51st Mountain
Gun Regiment, and the 3d Mortar
Battalion would provide gunfire
support.

The 61st Infantry and attached
units, titled Left Flank Force, was to
land on the tail of Corregidor on
the evening of 5 May. This 2,400-
man landing force would seize
Kindley Field and then capture
Malinta Hill. The following night
a second reinforced regiment of
the 4th Infantry Division would
land on Morrison and Battery
Points. The two forces would then
join for the capture of Topside.

On the evening of 4 May, a
Philippine civilian arrived in a
small fishing boat on the beach at
Corregidor. The civilian carried a
message from Philippine intelli-
gence on Bataan, and was prompt-
ly carried to Lieutenant Colonel
George D. Hamilton, the regimen-
tal intelligence officer. Hamilton
called for Sergeant Harold S.
Dennis of the intelligence section

to read the note aloud, as he was
having difficulty disciphering the
message. Dennis read, "Expect
enemy landing on the night of 5/6
May." Hamilton quieted Dennis,
saying, "Hush, hush, hush, don't
say another word! Do you want to
start a panic?" Hamilton took
Dennis with the note to Colonel
Howard who listened as the note
was read aloud a second time. In
the morning of 5 May, Howard
called a meeting of all the regi-
ment's senior officers. Once
assembled, Howard told them the
contents of the note from Bataan.
The Japanese were expected to
make their attack that night or the
following day.

There followed a discussion of
the probabilities of the landing. If
the Japanese were expected that
night, the beach positions would
be 100% manned at nightfall. If the
landing took place at dawn, the
positions would be 50% manned
until dawn so the men could eat
and rest for the coming attack.
Curtis asked the assembled offi-
cers for their opinions, which was
followed by a spirited discussion.
Curtis then called for a vote,
which was unanimous for the men
to sleep until one hour before
dawn and then fully man the
defenses.

Colonel Howard then spoke
and asked for the opinion of
Sergeant Dennis, the only enlisted
man in the room. Dennis had
studied Japanese tactics in China
and said that enemy landings
were invariably made at night,
one hour before the full light of the
moon. Colonel Howard thanked
him for his opinion, but did not
change the regiment's orders. The
men would be allowed to sleep for
a predawn landing.

Major Max W. Schaeffer com-
manded the regimental reserve,
which consisted of two companies
lettered 0 and P. formed mainly
from Headquarters and Service
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Company's personnel. Schaeffer's
would be the first unit to move to
any Japanese landing on Corregi-
dor. At 1700, 5 May, he made his
final preparation for the night.
Major Schaeffer summoned
Sergeant Gerald A. Turner to his
headquarters. The sergeant report-
ed by asking "Well, Major, what's
the trouble now?" Major Schaeffer
replied, "It may be a long, long
night for you. The reason I've
called you down here is because
we need a 2d platoon, and you're
it." He made Turner a lieutenant
and gave him command of 30-35
Filipino army officer cadets
formed into a platoon of three
squads. "Don't go out and try to
be a hero." cautioned Schaeffer, "I
want you to look after these kids
and take care of them." Even with
the addition of Turner's platoon,
the regimental reserve numbered
less than 500 men.

At nightfall on 5 May Colonel
Gempachi Sato assembled his Left
Flank Force at Limay on the Bataan

A Japanese artillery piece on Bataan
pounds Corregidor, April 1942.

Photo courtesy of Dr. Diosdado M. Yap
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Peninsula. The gathered troops
"sang softly the high thin haunt-
ing melody of 'Prayer in the
Dawn," and then climbed into 19
landing craft for the assault. The
landing craft varied in size, the
smallest carrying 30 men and the
largest 170. More important, five
tanks of the 7th Tank Regiment
were also embarked in two land-
ing craft. The landing craft and
barges approached Corregidor in
a three-line formation with expect-
ed landfall at 2300, shortly before
the rise of the moon.

At 2240 the artillery shelling
concentrated on the north shore
beach defenses in the 1st Battalion
sector. At 2300, supplies of food
and water were just reaching the
beach positions when landing
boats were reported offshore. A
second artillery concentration
pounded the beach defenses for 6-
7 minutes. The shelling was par-
ticularly intense, ending with
phosphorous shells. Three to four

minutes of silence followed the
last shell when word reached
Beecher at battalion headquarters
that seven Japanese landing craft
were nearing the beach. The initial
Japanese landing of 790 men of the
reinforced 1st Battalion, 61st
Infantry was headed for the beach-
es from Infantry Point to North
Point.

Captain Lewis H. Pickup of
Company A watched from his
command post as the first force of
landing craft in echelon headed
for his company's positions.
Searchlights picked up the landing
craft and the 1st Battalion com-
menced firing. The 37mm guns
had no trouble tracking the land-
ing craft, as Sergeant Louis E.
Duncan had altered the traversing
mechanism so it could move more
freely. Gunnery Sergeant William
A. Dudley held up the trails to his
37mm gun to fire down on the
incoming boats.

Private First Class Silas K.
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Barnes heard the boat motors from
his machine gun position on
Infantry Point and for a few
moments was able to hit the
approaching landing craft that
were illuminated by the search-
lights. He effectively enfiladed
Cavalry Beach and cut down
many of the Japanese soldiers as
they came ashore. The Japanese
struggled in the layers of oil that
covered the beaches from ships
sunk earlier in the siege and expe-
rienced great difficulty in landing
personnel and equipment. Unfor-
tunately, Barnes' and one other
machine gun position were all that
remained of 13 machine guns from
Infantry Point to North Point. The
rest had been destroyed by the
Japanese bombardment.

The 1st Platoon, Company A,
commanded by First Lieutenant
William F Harris, defended the
beach from Infantry to Cavalry
Points, while the 2d Platoon under
Master Gunnery Sergeant John



on 6 May, is here planning that invasion.

Mercurio held the line from
Cavalry to North Points. "I've got
word that landing boats will
attempt a landing," Harris told his
men, "They'll be coming in here
someplace. Fix Bayonets." He
ordered Private First Class James
D. Nixon to go to the cliff over-
looking the beach, and report on
the location of the Japanese. Nixon
looked at the beach and saw
Japanese troops coming ashore
only 30 feet away. The Marines
placed a heavy fire on the
Japanese as they climbed the steep
cliffs and tossed "Molotov
Cocktails" down on the landing
craft. In the darkness, however,
the Japanese succeeded in bypass-
ing many of the Marine positions.

Master Gunnery Sergeant
Mercurio's 2d Platoon was spread
thin covering the beach area, with
many of his positions right on the
water. "At high tide," recalled
Corporal Edwin R. Franklin, "I
could reach out and touch the
water." The landing craft were
only 100 yards away from the
beach when Japanese flares lit up
the night. The 2d Platoon began
firing, but the Japanese were too
close to halt the landing. A landing

craft beached in front of Franklin's
position and enemy troops began
coming ashore. Mercurio, armed
with only a pistol, killed a
Japanese soldier "so close he could
have touched him," as the
Japanese overran the beach
defenses. The fighting became
particularly bloody, "with every
man for himself," remembered
Franklin. The Japanese 50mm
heavy grenade dischargers or

"knee mortars" were particularly
effective at close range, and the
overwhelming numbers of
Japanese infantry forced Mer-
curio's men to pull back from the
beach.

Corporal Joseph Q. Johnson, a
31st Infantry soldier attached to
the 2d Platoon, remembered, "the
gun next to me chattered, and
glancing to my right, I saw its tar-
gets, small, fleeting, darting in the
shadows." Johnson fired two belts
of machine gun ammunition and
was firing a third one when a
grenade landed 20 yards away. A
second grenade landed closer, and
rifle fire also hit Johnson's posi-
tion. When a third grenade landed
only 10 yards from the gunpit,
Johnson ran to the next machine
gun position and found the two
occupants dead. He kept moving,
crawling along the beach with two
other survivors of his platoon,
toward Kindley Field.

The survivors of the 2d Platoon
found themselves surrounded by
the advancing Japanese as they
tried to reach safety. Corporal
Franklin saw a grenade land in the
trail in front of him, which explod-
ed and knocked him to the ground

Photograph courtesy of 61st Infantry Association
Col Gem pachi Sato, who commanded the Japanese forces which landed on Corregidor

Bataan Peninsula is viewed across Manila Bay from the North Dock area on
Corregidor. The masts and stack of a ship sunk in the bay are visible in the middle of
the photograph.

Department of Defense Photo (USMC) 311-T
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from the left in the second row.

with a head wound. Franklin next
hazily saw a Japanese soldier
charging with fixed bayonet. The
Marine said to himself, "I ain't
going this f***** way," and jumped
up to engage the enemy with his
own bayonet. Franklin was
stabbed in the chest, but succeed-
ed in killing the Japanese soldier.
He ran ahead down the trail past
another enemy soldier, who shot
Franklin in the leg, but the Marine
continued moving until he
reached Malinta Tunnel.

Lieutenant Harris was forced to
pull his platoon out of the area of
Cavalry Point after the Japanese
overran Mercurio's platoon. Most
of the men fought on their own
through the night. Private First
Class Nixon moved toward the
high ground of Denver Battery,
when he encountered a Japanese
soldier, "eyeball to eyeball." Both
men charged with fixed bayonet,
and in the ensuing struggle, Nixon
was able to wound the Japanese
soldier in the side. He left his

enemy in the darkness and moved
toward the sound of firing.

After facing 30-45 minutes of
defensive firing the landing craft
seemed to abandon their attempts
to land and retired to the bay. The
firing then subsided. Unknown to
Captain Pickup, most of the 1st
Battalion, 61st Infantry was ashore
in 15 minutes and the barges were
returning to Limay. The Japanese
sent up a flare to signal a success-
ful landing at 2315. In 30 minutes,
Colonel Sato had his men off the
beach and moving inland.

The 785 men of the reinforced
2d Battalion, 61st Infantry were not
so successful. The Japanese plan-
ners had not reckoned with the
strong current in the channel
between Bataan and Corregidor
and the battalion landed east of
North Point where all defensive
positions were still intact. The
craft also hit the Corregidor beach
10 minutes after the 1st Battalion,
and the Marines were ready and
alert for the attack. The Japanese
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came under heavy fire for the next
35 minutes, losing eight of 10
landing craft on the shore and one
more sinking after pulling off the
beach.

Private First Class Roy E. Hays
manned a .30-caliber machine gun
nestled in the cliffs overlooking
the beach area at Hooker Point. He
could see the barges approach his
position, but was ordered to hold
fire until the landing craft came
closer. Hays decided, "We're not
waiting any longer," and opened a
devastating fire at point blank
range. This was instantly followed
by accompanying fires from all the
weapons positions along the
beach.

The Japanese who did get
ashore were crowded in most
cases on beaches that were only 30
feet wide backed by 30-foot-high
cliffs. Most of the officers were
killed early in the landing, and the
huddled survivors were hit with
hand grenades, and machine gun
and rifle fire.

Private First Class David L.
Johnson remembered a sailor
named Hamilton firing a twin .50-
caliber machine gun up and down
the beach, "like shooting ducks in
a rain barrel. The Japanese would
run up and down the beach,"
remembered Johnson "and each
time there would be less men in
the charges. Finally, they swam
into the surf, and hid behind boul-
ders." For the remainder of the
night, only small bands of
Japanese were able to scale the
cliffs and engage the Marines.

Captain Pickup went out to
check his platoons, assuming the
attack had been repulsed. He then
learned that some of the landing
craft had made it ashore in the
North Point area and Japanese
troops were moving inland. At the
same time, Beecher sent runners to
all of his company commanders
alerting them to the landing. As
planned, if the enemy penetration

William C. Koch Papers, Personal Papers Collection, MCHC
SSgt William A. Dudley physically lifted the trails of his 37mm gun to fire down at
the Japanese landing craft on the night of 5-6 May 1942. Dudley is the Marine second



was successful, Company A
would withdraw and join
Company B in a line based on
Battery Denver, holding the tail of
the island from the Japanese.
Before the line could be formed,
the Japanese captured Denver at
2350 and were discovered digging
in. Colonel Sato had led his 1st
Battalion soldiers to Denver Hill
almost unnoticed.

Platoon Sergeant William
Haynes led his 3d Platoon, the
reserve platoon from Company B,
from the south beaches at Monkey
Point over to reinforce Company
A. Haynes kept his men together
in the darkness and reached the
beach area. Hearing Japanese
voices ashore, the platoon moved
and fired trying to make contact
with the Japanese, but they were
firing only at the voices. After an
hour the platoon became scattered
in the darkness and each Marine
fought the rest of the night on his
own.

Captain Pickup had only just
returned to his headquarters,
when he discovered the enemy
on Denver. His first reaction was
to pull a platoon off the beach
and retake the battery, but in dis-
cussion with First Lieutenant
William Harris, he decided to
keep his beach defenses intact
and await reinforcements. Marine
Gunner Harold M. Ferrell went to
1st Battalion headquarters to alert
Captain Noel 0. Castle, com-
manding Company D, to the
Japanese landing. He had sent a
runner to Denver Battery where
he found Japanese in the gun pits.
Castle, a distinguished marks-
man and pistol shot who carried
two pearl-handled .45-caliber pis-
tols, assembled the Marines of
Headquarters Company and the
few Marines available of
Company D to drive the Japanese

off of Denver Hill.
Castle dispatched Sergeant

Matthew Monk with 15 drivers
and cooks to occupy an aban-
doned beach defense position and
secure his left flank. "Do the best
you can," he ordered Monk,
"Keep the Japanese out of the tun-
nel." Castle also scouted the
reserve stations at critical road
junctions, and cautioned the men,
"Maintain positions." He then
gathered his men for the counter-
attack to Denver Battery, declar-
ing, "Let's go up there and run the
bastards off."

Ferrell warned Castle from
leading the attack himself, but the
captain replied, "I'm going to take
these people up there and shoot
those people's eyes out" and led
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his men to the hill. Castle met the
Marines falling back from the
Japanese advance, and joined in
the battle. At 0140, the Japanese
attacked the water tower and ran
directly into the reinforced pla-
toon led by Castle. The two forces
collided in furious combat, practi-
cally "face to face," remembered
Corporal Joseph J. Kopacz. The
Japanese advance was halted but
the Marine attack was bloodily
repulsed.

Castle left the battle line and ran
to an abandoned .30-caliber
machine gun, which he put into
working order, while "completely
covered by enemy fire." Castle
opened a devastating fire with the
machine gun, forcing the Japanese
to cover, which allowed the

National Archives
A postwar view of the Cavalry and Infantry and Point landing beaches on Corregidor
and Kindley Field. Note the Denver Battery ridge on the left of the photograph.
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American advance to continue.
The Japanese fell back from the
water tanks to the Denver Battery
positions, but Castle was hit by
Japanese machine gun fire and
killed. With their commander
down, the attack ground to a halt.

Captain Golland L. Clark of
Headquarters Company, 1st
Battalion, then ordered mortar fire
placed on the ridge and for 20
minutes Stokes mortars, convert-
ed to fire 81mm ammunition,
pounded the Japanese positions.
However, the Marine with the
range card which contained the
coordinates which targeted the
entire end of the island could not
be found throughout the night.
The mortar firing soon halted as
stray rounds were impacting on
Marine positions on the other side
of the hill. For the moment only
scattered Marines from every
company in the 1St Battalion held
the Japanese from moving on to
Malinta Tunnel.

Gunner Ferrell put together
what few men he could find from
Company D and formed a line to
prevent the Japanese from moving
down from the high ground and
taking the northern beach defens-
es from the rear. Marines from
Headquarters Platoon, Company
A, joined the battle on their own.
First Sergeant Noble I. Wells
formed 25 to 30 Marines on line to

prevent the Japanese from moving
along the north road. The Japanese
soon attacked, screaming,
"Banzai! Banzai!" and reached
within 15 to 20 yards of the Marine
position before being turned back.
The Japanese then tried to infil-
trate behind Wells' men. He post-
ed two Marines to guard the com-
munication trench. Corporal
Howard A. Jordan heard a noise
and shouted, "Who goes there?" A
voice responded, "Me Filipino, got
hurt foot," and a figure began to
run. Both Marines opened fire,
and dropped the man who turned
out to be a Japanese soldier.
Corporal John H. Frazier later
remarked, "Didn't have to worry
about that foot anymore."

Before midnight, Lieutenant
Colonel Beecher committed his
battalion reserve, a platoon of 30
Philippine Scouts, but the
Japanese were obviously firmly
ashore and more reinforcements
were needed to drive the enemy
back to the beaches. Lieutenant
Colonel Samuel V. Freeny orga-
nized a platoon of men, gathered
from Malinta Tunnel, to reinforce
the beleaguered 1st Battalion. One
of the U.S. Army enlisted men
complained, "I've never fired a
rifle before, I'm in the finance
department." Freeny replied, "You
just go out and draw their fire and
the Marines will pick them off."

With the 1st Battalion fully com-
mitted, Colonel Howard ordered
the regimental reserve under
Major Max Schaeffer to report to
Beecher. The 4th Battalion was
alerted to be ready to respond
should more men be needed.

At the sound of machine gun
fire, Major Schaeffer alerted his
two companies which formed the
regimental reserve, and sent
Sergeant Turner's Filipino cadet
platoon in advance to Malinta
Tunnel. Shortly before midnight,
he moved the rest of his men to
the tunnel. The Marines pulled on
their bandoliers of ammunition,
fastened grenades to their car-
tridge belts, and as Private First
Class Melvin Sheya remembered,
said to each other, "Well, here goes
nothing." The two companies
moved along the South Shore
Road under Japanese artillery fire,
but lost only a few men before
reaching the tunnel.

When Sergeant Turner's pla-
toon reached Malinta Tunnel, he
found the passage blocked by
hundreds of "tunnel rats," sol-
diers who had no organization on
the island and lived in the safety
of the tunnel. These men wouldn't
clear the corridor for the regimen-
tal reserve to pass into. Turner
ordered his men, "Fix bayonets,
boys, let's give them a nudge."
The main passage of the tunnel
was soon cleared.

Lieutenant Colonel Beecher
informed Schaeffer of the situation
on Denver Hill as the Marines
drew more hand grenades and
Lewis machine gun magazines
from caches planted against an
eastern attack. All proceeded
according to plan. A few Marines
and sailors from the tunnel joined
the column as ammunition bear-

Barbed wire entanglements on the beach at Corregidor. Most of these were destroyed
at the time of the Japanese landing.
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ers. At 0100 Major Schaeffer gave
his company and platoon com-
manders orders to counterattack
and drive the Japanese off the tail
of Corregidor. Company P would
advance down the road toward
Kindley Field and upon meeting
resistance would deploy to the left
of the road while Company 0
would move to the right. Together
the companies would sweep to the
end of the island. Officers of the
1st Battalion would lead the two
companies into position.

At 0200 the two companies of
the regimental reserve deployed
down the road leading east from
Malinta Tunnel. Sergeant Turner's
platoon again led the advance
from the tunnel, literally running
into Captain Golland L. Clark, 1st
Battalion adjutant, who was
directing reinforcements to the
battle area. "Oh, Turner, what's
your unit?" Clark asked. "It's my
platoon. They sent me out here
and I'm supposed to contact you,"
answered Turner. "I want you to
go down this road," Clark
ordered, "just keep going as far as
you can until you make contact
with D Company."

Sergeant Turner's platoon
moved less than 200 yards when a
green flare went up right above
the men. Turner stopped, turned,
and called out, "Hit the deck," as
Japanese artillery began raking the
area. The platoon went to ground
and was prevented from going to
the Denver Battery fight. Rifle fire
also ranged into the position and
continued to pin the platoon
down.

Major Schaeffer's main force
followed behind Turner. Shots
were soon exchanged between
Marines of the two companies.
Cloaked in darkness it was impos-
sible to tell friend from foe. At a
fork in the road, Company P
turned left and Company 0 took a
right turn. First Lieutenant
Hogaboom, commanding Com-

pany P. soon ran into scattered
Japanese fire and Captain Clark
ordered Hogaboom to deploy his
men into line formation.
Hogaboom soon found that he
had only his 2d Platoon. The other
two platoons were nowhere to be
seen.

Company 0, behind Company
P, had almost reached the fork in
the road when they began to take
Japanese rifle and machine gun
fire. Sergeant Carl M. Holloway
remembered, "we had been so
accustomed to . . . heavy artillery
fire and bombs for so many
months, that the bullets kicking
up dust around our feet seemed at
times almost like rain drops hit-
ting the dust." Flares then lit up
the night sky followed by a thun-
derous Japanese barrage. The lead
platoon was able to take cover in
nearby bomb craters but still lost
eight men in the first few minutes
of the shelling. The rest of the
company was caught in the open
and cut to pieces. The 3d Platoon
was left with only six Marines
unhurt while 2d Platoon had only
five.

As soon as the barrage lifted,
Quartermaster Clerk Frank W.
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Ferguson advanced his 1st platoon
as ordered but came under heavy
machine gun fire from Battery
Denver hill. Ferguson deployed
his platoon to the left of the road
and tried to tie in with Company
P. He believed that the two pla-
toons behind him would soon be
up to anchor his right to the beach
and to support his advance. A few
isolated Marines did reach him,
but only a handful. Ferguson then
led his men up the hill into the
face of concentrated machine gun
fire. The commitment of the regi-
mental reserve was now whittled
down to two isolated platoons,
each advancing unsupported.

At 0300 Ferguson's platoon
came to a halt on the hillside. The
steep slopes were covered by
interlocking machine gun fire and
despite three attempts, only a few
yards were gained. The 1st
Platoon halted only 30 yards from
the Japanese positions and dug in.
The battle now raged around the
two concrete water tanks on top of
the ridge, just ahead of the Denver
Battery position. Ferguson's
immediate concern was for his
flanks and he moved a Lewis gun
and an automatic rifle to cover the

Photograph courtesy of 61st Infantry Association
The landing area from Cavalry to Infantry Points, Corregidor.
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too well protected. The remnants
of both companies settled in their
positions and then began a duel of
American grenades against the
ammunition of the deadly accu-
rate Japanese "knee" mortars.
Captain Robert Chambers, Jr., met
with Hogaboom before dawn to
coordinate the battle line of the
two companies. Both comman-
ders agreed that without rein-
forcements, the battle would soon
go against the Marines.

nearby trees.

road to his right. His left still had
no connection with Company P,
but Quartermaster Sergeant John
E. Haskin brought up his five men
of 3d Platoon and Ferguson sent
them to the left to extend that
flank. Captain Chambers ordered
the five survivors of the 2d
Platoon to Ferguson who also sent
them to his left. Soon word
reached Chambers that Company
P had been joined.

While Ferguson was battling for
the hill, Lieutenant Hogaboom
was advancing along the coastal
road toward the Japanese landing
areas. He met a platoon of
Marines of Company A under
Lieutenant Harris engaged in
sweeping out Japanese snipers
from a wooded area. Harris
agreed to support Hogaboom,
extending Hogaboom's left to the
beach. Luckily, Hogaboom's 1st
Platoon found its way to the front
and was placed in reserve. The
three platoons advanced, killing a
few scattered Japanese soldiers
until they hit the Japanese main
defense line in the draw extending

from Battery Denver to the north-
ern beaches. Hogaboom's men
were stalled by the Japanese fire
and even the 1st Platoon could
deploy no further.

With no reserve and a tenuous
right flank, Hogaboom was forced
to draw a squad to the right rear.
As he was deploying the Marines,
Japanese landing barges appeared
from the sea bearing for the beach-
es on Hogaboom's left. The 1st
Battalion Marines on North Point
opened on the barges spraying
them with .50-caliber machine gun
fire. "The bullets smacking the ar-
mor of the barges sounded like
rivet hammers rattling away,"
remembered Hogaboom. Private
First Class Robert P. McKechnie
took a Lewis gun to an overlook
and personally disabled two of the
barges, leaving them drifting aim-
lessly.

After savaging the attempted
landing, the Marines tried to
advance to join the members of
the 1st Battalion at Cavalry Point,
but the Japanese machine gun at
the head of the draw proved to be
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Before midnight, Colonel
Howard gave orders for the 4th
Battalion to prepare to move to
Malinta Tunnel and replace the
regimental reserve. Major Wil-
liams had already alerted his men
based on the view he had of the
east end of the island. The men of
the battalion needed little warn-
ing, having also watched the land-

Capt Noel 0. Castle, expert team shot
with both rifle and pistol, was killed lead-
ing the first counterattack on Denver
Hill. He is shown here at the Camp Perry
matches in March 1937, when he was a
member of the Marine Corps rifle team.
Department of Defense Photo (USMC) 7563

Department of Defense Photo (USMC) OOR-11004
A view of the 4th Marines beach defenses, at this point consisting of sandbagged
bunkers and trenches. Note that the Japanese bombardment has taken every leaf from
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they moved into position.

ing take place. At midnight Wil-
liams had extra ammunition
issued and all companies ready to
move. At 0130 he received
Howard's order to shift to the tun-
nel and the 4th Battalion moved at
once.

The battalion marched in the
darkness in two columns along
the road to the tunnel well spread
out to avoid Japanese artillery fire,
but were delayed by a 20-minute
artillery barrage and suffered a
few casualties. By 0230, Major
Williams had his men into Malinta
Tunnel and awaited further
orders.

At 0430 Colonel Howard decid-
ed to commit his last reserves, the
500 Marines, sailors, and soldiers
of the 4th Battalion. Major
Williams' men were long ago
ready to move out, the Malinta
Tunnel being severely congested
with a constant stream of wound-
ed Marines from the early fight-
ing. Morale in the battalion was
strained by the constant concus-
sions from the Japanese shelling
outside and the proliferation of
rumors in the tunnel. Lieutenant
Charles R. Brook, USN, remem-
bered, "It was hot, terribly hot,
and the ventilation was so bad
that we could hardly breathe."

Led by Major Williams, the bat-
talion emerged from the tunnel in
platoon column. The men were

suddenly subjected to a severe
shelling and casualties began to
mount before the last company
was able to leave the tunnel.
However, within 10 minutes, the
battalion reformed under fire and
began to move forward. Another
barrage soon struck, causing more
casualties and confusion. Minutes
later, the column was again reor-
ganized and the advance contin-
ued. At 200 yards behind the line
of the 1st Battalion, Williams
ordered Companies Q and R to
deploy in a skirmish line and
guide to the left of the line.
Company T repeated the orders
and formed on the right of
Company R and guided to the
right. Company S formed the
reserve.

The order of the battalion was
prudent, for the main line of
resistance was badly in need of
reinforcement. In the moonlight,
deployment into skirmish forma-
tion was difficult, but eventually
accomplished. Contact with the
1st Battalion was spotty at best
and no Marines were found in
line ahead of Company R.
Scattered parties of Japanese sol-
diers had infiltrated behind the
Marine positions all night and
their sniping proved worrisome
to the inexperienced sailors. Both
Companies Q and R were receiv-
ing fire from ahead and behind as
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In the confusion, two sailors,
Signalman First Class Maurice C.
Havey and Signalman First Class
Frank H. Bigelow, became separat-
ed from their command and came
upon an unmanned twin .50-cal-
iber machine gun overlooking the
beach area. They manned the gun
and opened fire on the Japanese
on the coastline for 30 minutes.
Havey fired until the barrels
burned out and Bigelow then
replaced them. Suddenly, Havey
dropped from the gun, turned and
said, "I'm hit." He staggered to the
rear toward Malinta Tunnel while
Bigelow stayed with the gun.
Havey had traveled only 100
yards when he was killed by seven
machine gun bullets across the
chest.

Unbeknownst to the Marines,
the Japanese troops on Corregidor
received reinforcements just be-
fore dawn. The 3d Battalion, 61st
Infantry, engineers, and light
artillery arrived with at least 880
men to join the battle. This force
was originally scheduled to arrive
at 0230, but the losses in landing
craft in the initial attack forced the
delay. Even so, five tanks and
most of the field artillery were left
on Bataan due to lack of landing
craft. At 0530, three green flares
signaled the successful landing by
the Japanese.

From 0530 to 0600 the four com-
pany commanders of the 4th
Battalion tried to put their men
into position but were hampered
by the darkness, lack of know!-
edge of the terrain, and the lack of
cohesion of the 1st Battalion. In
some cases the 4th Battalion actu-
ally formed a line behind the 1st
Battalion positions with no knowl-
edge of the Marines ahead of
them. Luckily, the Japanese
artillery was strangely silent.
Major Schaeffer came out of the
firing line to confer with Major
Williams on the placement of the

National Archives
A prewar view of Denver Hill from Malinta Hill. Note the water tank on the hill.
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inland from the beaches.

reinforcements, asking, "Joe, what
in the hell did you bring me?"
Williams responded, "I have my
whole battalion here—or what's
left of them. Where is your unit?
and what position do you want
my battalion in?" Schaeffer lost his
composure for a moment and
replied, "Joe, I don't know! . . . I
don't know where in hell my non-
corns are, I think they are all
dead!" Williams motioned a near-
by corpsman to check the major
and said, "Dammit now, you
relax, I'll take over this situation."
Schaeffer pulled himself together
and indicated the most needy area
was the gap between his two com-
panies. Company S moved out of
reserve and forward to fill the
breach.

flanks to cover the island from end
to end. A decision was reached to
find how many men had been lost
in getting into position, but this
effort was unsuccessful. The best
estimate of the strength of the bat-
talion at that time was about 400
men.

At 0600 Williams ordered his
battalion to counterattack at 0615,

the break of dawn. In 10 minutes
all companies were alerted and
jumped off promptly at the desig-
nated time. The order, "Charge,"
came down the line and the
Marines, sailors, and soldiers
attacked with fixed bayonets,
"yelling and screaming. . . cursing
and howling. . ." Gunner Ferrell
tried to use the 1st Battalion
Stokes mortars to support the
attack, but again the rounds were
too inaccurate for use. Companies
Q and R rapidly gained ground on
the left, but Company S ran at
once into heavy machine gun fire
and was halted after moving only
100 yards.

Company T also ground to a
halt after gaining little ground.
The Japanese sent up flares which
brought a prompt response from
the artillery on Bataan. In 10 min-
utes the gunfire halted and
Company T resumed the attack on
the ground around Battery
Denver, but machine gun fire
quickly halted the advance. A
machine gun position on the north
road was knocked out, as was
another in the ruins on Battery
Denver Hill, but at heavy cost.

Major Williams and his staff
armed themselves with rifles and
hand grenades and entered the
front lines where the firing was
the heaviest. This command deci-
sion at times prevented tight coor-
dination among the companies as
the commanders often would
have little idea how to contact the
major. The dazed battalion settled
into its positions and extended its
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Photograph courtesy from 61st Infantry Association
Japanese soldiers pause amid the fighting on 6 May as they move their light artillery

Japanese troops move to the high ground on Corregidor's north shore during the fight-
ing on 6 May.

Photograph courtesy of 61st Infantry Association

•1

a..
'at''-S

F



a

Major Schaeffer was pinned
down in his command post by
these two machine guns and had
lost contact with his men. When
the fire was silenced, he rose from
his position, a mixture of dirt and
blood from wounds rurming into
his eyes, blinding him. Despite his
wounds, Schaeffer tried to reorga-
nize his men and explain to
Williams what had happened.
Major Williams had Schaeffer
cared for and calmly took control
of the action.

Predictably, contact was soon
lost between the two left compa-
nies, Q and R, and the two compa-
nies on the right, S and T. The
companies on the left had outdis-
tanced those on the right by 200
yards. Williams halted Companies
Q and R, ordering them to regain
contact with the stalled companies
and try to break into the Japanese
flank on Denver. The two boat-
loads of Japanese soldiers left
drifting by Private First Class
McKechnie, and now hung up off-
shore, were successfully destroyed
despite the poor marksmanship of
the sailors in Company Q. At 0630

Williams began to shift men to the
right, which was hard-pressed.

Quartermaster Clerk Ferguson,
now in command of Company 0,
decided to attack the two machine
guns which covered the beach
road by the flank. Ferguson, with
six men, moved down the road
covered for some distance by the
road embankment. Unfortunately,
two new machine guns opened on
the party and they were bracketed
by knee mortars. By the time
Ferguson was abreast of the first
guns he had only one man left,
Corporal Alvin E. Stewart of the
803d Engineer Battalion. The two
gave up the enterprise and moved
to the south side of the road to
place rifle fire on the offending
machine guns.

The Japanese on top of the hill
evidently thought they were being
flanked by a larger party of men
and a reinforced platoon began to
file out of Battery Denver to
counter Ferguson's move. The
Japanese were entirely in silhou-
ette against the skyline and the
two Americans by the road had
perfect targets. Ferguson later
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wrote "There wasn't a chance to
miss them—we were too close for
that." Within seconds 20 Japanese
soldiers were killed or wounded.
The Americans were so intent on
firing that they didn't notice a
Japanese rifleman coming up
behind them. Ferguson was shot
by a glancing bullet in the face,
leaving blood streaming from his
nose and cheek. Stewart was able
to pull him back to the Marine bat-
tle line without further wounds.

One of the major impediments
to the Marine attack was a
Japanese machine gun placed in a
hole in the base of one of the water
tanks. Quartermaster Sergeant
John E. Haskin and Sergeant
Major Thomas F. Sweeney ran
under fire and climbed up the
cement water tower in the
predawn darkness. The two
Marines did not expect to survive
the battle, and their comrades
knew that both would attempt
some extreme action during the
expected fighting. Marine Gunner
Ferrell talked to Sweeney as he led
his men into action that morning.
Sweeney said as they parted,
"Well, this is it. We've been in the
Marine Corps for 15 years and this
is what we've been waiting for. If I
don't see you, that's the way it is."

The two Marines now lobbed
grenades into the Japanese posi-
tions, promptly destroying the
machine gun in the water tank.
Captain Brook remembered, "A
Marine sergeant . . . gathered an
armful of hand grenades and
climbed to the top of a stone water
tower near our front line. From
here, he threw them at a Japanese
sniper position and succeeded in
knocking it out." Another Marine,
Corporal Sidney E. Funk, was
crawling beside the water tank
when he heard a voice call down,
"Hey Funk, those bastards are
right over there in the brush. If I
had enough hand grenades, I'd
blow the hell out of them." Funk

Photograph courtesy of 61st Infantry Association
These two water tanks were the focus of the heaviest 4th Marines fighting on 6 May.
The tank in the foreground overlooked the Denver Battery positions and was where
QMSgt John E. Haskin and SgtMaj Thomas F. Sweeney died.
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belonged to and quickly crawled
away for cover.

Despite drawing fire to them-
selves, Haskin and Sweeney con-
tinued to have some initial suc-
cess, destroying at least one more
machine gun. However, their sup-
ply of grenades was soon exhaust-
ed and Haskin was killed while
reclimbing the tower with more
ammunition. Sweeney was killed
soon after. The two "were very
close friends in life," remembered
Quartermaster Clerk Frank W.
Ferguson, "it was most fitting that
they should go out together."

The American advance on both
the right and the left was next
halted by an enemy machine gun
located in the gun pit of Battery
Denver near the water tower.
From this commanding position
the gun could hit any movement
from the north coast to the south.
The gun drew the attention of
Major Williams who personally
took on the gun with his
Springfield rifle with no result. At
0730 Lieutenant Bethel B. Otter,
USN, commanding Company T,
took Ensign William R. Lloyd and
four volunteers, armed only with

gun.
Under covering fire of the com-

pany, Otter crawled with his vol-
unteers to within 25 yards of the
gun pit and lobbed grenades into
the position. For a few moments
the weapon was silent, the gun
crew dead. Almost immediately
the gun crew was replaced and all
but one member of the assault
party was killed. With the gun
still in operation, no movement
further east could be accom-
plished. Army Captain Calvin E.
Chunn of the battalion staff took
over the company and led an
advance on a group of Japanese
soldiers setting up a light artillery
piece. As the company moved for-
ward, a shell struck amidst the
command group, wounding
Chunn and two other officers. By
0900 the 4th Battalion was stalled
and Williams sent to Colonel
Howard for reinforcements and
artillery support to resume the
attack. Neither were available.

First Lieutenant Mason F.

Chronister of Company B, on the
south shore beaches, could see in
the growing daylight the Japanese
holding the high ground around

Denver Battery. He organized his
platoon with volunteers from the
Navy Communications Tunnel
and Battery M, 60th Coast
Artillery, to attack the Japanese
from the west at the same time
Williams was attacking from the
east. The attack proceeded up the
ridge, but hit Japanese reinforce-
ments from the recently landed 3d
Battalion, 61st Infantry, also mov-
ing up the hill. Lieutenant
Chronister withdrew his men
from the larger force, and moved
them along a trail, joining
Williams' line at the watertank.

During the morning action
Major Williams fought beside his
men, moving from position to
position along the line. Captain
Brook remembered, "He was
everywhere along the line, orga-
nizing and directing our attack,
always in the thick of it, seeming
to bear a charmed life. I have
heard men say that he was the
bravest man they ever saw."

From 0900 until 1030 the fire-
fight proceeded without change in
position. The lines were so close
that none of the companies could
shift a squad without drawing
machine gun fire and artillery. All
of the 4th Battalion was fighting
without helmets, canteens, or even
cartridge belts. However, the
Marines had the advantage of
being too close for the Japanese
artillery to be of use. Small parties
of Marines occasionally were dis-
patched to take out Japanese
snipers who were firing into the
rear of the Marine position from
the beach area.

The Japanese were now facing a
serious problem, which threat-
ened to lose the battle for them.
Each Japanese rifleman came
ashore with 120 rounds of ammu-
nition and two hand grenades.
The machine gun sections carried

had no idea who the voice hand grenades, to take out the

Col Sato confers with his staff during the fighting for Denver Battery hill. The absence
of an ammunition resupply threatened the success of his landing.

Photograph courtesy of 61st Infantry Association
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only two cases totalling 720
rounds of ammunition and three
to six grenades. The knee mortar
sections had only 36 heavy
grenades and three light grenades.
A large quantity of additional
ammunition had been loaded on
the landing craft due to the expect-
ed problems in resupplying the
force. However, the ammunition
crates had been hurriedly dumped
overboard by the crews of the
landing craft as they grounded on
Corregidor and now few boxes
could be recovered in the murky
water. By morning most of the
Japanese on Denver Hill were
either out of ammunition or very
close to it. Many Japanese soldiers
were now fighting with the bayo-
net and even threw rocks at the
Marines to hold the hill.

At 0900, Captain Herman
Hauck, USA, reinforced the
Marines and sailors with 60 mem-
bers of his Coast Artillery battery.
Williams placed the soldiers on
the beaches to his left where heavy
losses had whittled away at his
strength. With the reinforcements
some advance was made, but
against strong enemy resistance.
Nevertheless, much of the fighting
was done with the bayonet, as the
Japanese were running out of
ammunition. The tide was begin-
fling to turn against the Japanese.
As Lieutenant General Masaharu
Homma reflected one year after
the surrender, "If the enemy had
stood their ground 12 hours
longer, events might not have
transpired as smoothly as they
did."

The Japanese were able to set
up a mortar battery on North
Point and opened with telling
effect on Williams' left companies.
Two squads were sent out to flank
the guns, but ran into machine
gun fire which wiped out almost
the entire right squad. Three more
squads were sent out, two to the
left and one to the right of the

mortars. After heavy fighting and
loss, the deadly mortars were
silenced.

The machine gun at the head of
the draw at Cavalry Point also had
held up the progress of the
advance. U.S. Army Lieutenant
Otis E. Saalman of the 4th
Battalion staff was ordered by
Williams to go to the left and see
what he could do to get the line
moving. With the help of Captain
Harold Dalness, USA, Saalman
took a party of volunteers up the
draw to silence the gun. The
Americans crawled unobserved to
within grenade range and then
opened fire on the enemy with
rifles and grenades. One of the
Japanese defenders picked up a
grenade and lifted it to throw it
back at the Americans when it
went off in his hand. The gun was
at last silenced and the way lay
open to link up with the 1st
Battalion survivors to the east.
Saalman was able to observe the
Japanese landing area where he
watched three Japanese tanks
climbing off the beach.

The Japanese landed three
tanks, two Type 97 tanks and a
captured M-3. Two other tanks
were lost 50 yards offshore while
landing with the 2d Battalion, 61st
Infantry. The surviving tanks were
stranded on the beach due to the
steep cliffs and beach debris and
were left behind by the advancing
infantry. In one hour, the tank
crews and engineers worked a
path off the beach. When the tanks
reached the cliffs, they found the
inclines too steep and were unable
to move further. The Marines were
alerted to the presence of the tanks
and Gunner Ferrell went to
Cavalry Point to investigate the
rumors of tanks, and found the
vehicles apparently hopelessly
stalled.
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At daylight the Japanese were
able to cut a road to Cavalry Beach
but were still prevented from
moving inland by the slope
behind the beach. Finally, the cap-
tured M-3 negotiated the cliff and
succeeded in towing the remain-
ing tanks up the cliff. By 0830, all
three tanks were on the coastal
road and moved cautiously
inland. At 0900, Gunnery Sergeant
Mercurio reported to Malinta
Tunnel the presence of enemy
armor.

At 1000 Marines on the north
beaches watched as the Japanese
began an attack with their tanks,
which moved in concert with light
artillery support. Private First
Class Silas K. Barnes fired on the
tanks with his machine gun to no
effect. He watched helplessly as
they began to take out the
American positions. He remem-
bered the Japanese tanks' guns
"looked like mirrors flashing
where they were going out and
wiping out pockets of resistance
where the Marines were." The
Marines still had nothing in oper-
ation heavier than automatic rifles
to deal with the enemy tanks.
Word of the enemy armor caused
initial panic, but the remaining
Marine, Navy and Army officers
soon halted the confusion.

One of the Marines' main prob-
lems was the steady accumulation
of wounded men who could not
be evacuated. Only four corps-
men were available to help them.
No one in the battalion had first
aid packets, or even a tourniquet.
The walking wounded tried to get
to the rear, but Japanese artillery
prevented any move to Malinta
Tunnel. No one could be spared
from the line to take the wounded
to the rear. At 1030 the pressure
from the Japanese lines was too
great and men began to filter back
from the firing line. Major
Williams personally tried to halt
the men but to little avail. The



tanks moved along the North
Road with Colonel Sato personally
pointing out the Marine positions.
The tanks fired on Marine posi-
tions knocking them out one by
one. At last Williams ordered his
men to withdraw to prepared
positions just short of Malinta
Hill.

With the withdrawal of the 4th
and 1st Battalions, the Japanese
sent up a green flare as a signal to
the Bataan artillery which redou-
bled its fire, and all organization
of the two battalions ceased. Men
made their way to the rear in small
groups and began to fill the con-
crete trenches at Malinta Hill. The
Japanese guns swept the area from
the hill to Battery Denver and then
back again several times. In 30
minutes only 150 men were left to
hold the line.

The Japanese had followed the
retreat aggressively and were
within 300 yards of the line with
tanks moving around the
American right flank. Lieutenant
Colonel Beecher moved outside
the tunnel, shepherding his men
back to Malinta hill. He knew his
men would be thirsty and hungry
and ordered Sergeant Louis
Duncan to "See what you can do
about it." Duncan broke open the
large Army refrigerators near the
entrance to Malinta Tunnel, and
soon was issuing ice-cold cans of
peaches and buttermilk to the
exhausted Marines.

At 1130 Major Williams
returned to the tunnel and report-
ed directly to Colonel Howard
that his men could hold no longer.
He asked for reinforcements and
antitank weapons. Colonel Ho-
ward replied that General
Wainwright had decided to sur-
render at 1200. Wainwright ago-
nized over his decision and later
wrote, "It was the terror vested in
a tank that was the deciding factor.
I thought of the havoc that even
one of these beasts could wreak if

it nosed into the tunnel." Williams
was ordered to hold the Japanese
until noon when a surrender party
arrived.

At 1200 the white flag came out
of the tunnel and Williams
ordered his men to withdraw to
the tunnel and turn in their
weapons. The end had come for
the 4th Marines. Colonel Curtis
ordered Captain Robert B. Moore
to burn the 4th Marines
Regimental colors. Captain Moore
took the colors in hand and left the
headquarters. On return, with
tears in his eyes, he reported that
the burning had been carried out.
Colonel Howard placed his face
into his hands and wept, saying,
"My God, and I had to be the first
Marine officer ever to surrender a
regiment."

The news of the surrender was
particularly difficult for the men
of the 2d and 3d Battalions who
were ready to repel any renewed
Japanese landing. Private First
Class Ernest J. Bales first learned
of the surrender when a runner
arrived at his gun position at
James Ravine, who announced,
"We're throwing in the towel,
destroy all guns." Bales and his
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comrades found the news incredi-
ble, "hard to take . . . couldn't
believe it." One Marine tried to
shoot the messenger but was
wrestled to the ground.

Private First Class Ben L.
Lohman of 2d Battalion destroyed
his automatic rifle, but "we didn't
know what the hell was going
on," as Japanese artillery contin-
ued to pound Corregidor long
after the surrender. "The word
was passed," recalled Lohman,
"go into Malinta Tunnel." The
men packed up their few belong-
ings and marched toward the
Japanese. Three Marines of 3d
Battalion refused to surrender and
boarded a small boat and made
their escape out into the bay.

Sergeant Milton A. Englin com-
manded a platoon in the final
defensive line outside Malinta
Tunnel, and was prepared to deal
with the Japanese tanks with
armor-piercing rounds from his
two 37mm guns. As he waited for
the Japanese, an Army runner
came out of the tunnel, shouting,
"You have to surrender, and leave
your guns intact." Englin yelled
back, "No! No! Marines don't sur-
render." The runner disappeared,

Photograph courtesy of Dr. Diosdado M. Yap
Japanese tanks and infantry on Corregidor after the surrender. Note the captured U.S.
M-3 tank on the left of the photograph.
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but returned 15 minutes later, say-
ing, "You have to surrender, or
you will be courtmartialled after
all this is over when we get back to
the States." Englin obeyed the
order, but destroyed his weapons,
instructirg his men, "We aren't
going to leave any guns behind for
Americans to be shot with." The
4th Marines, 1,487 survivors,
many in tears, destroyed their
weapons and waited for the
Japanese to come.

The defenders of Hooker Point
were cut off from the rest of the
island and were the last to surren-
der. They had finished the
Japanese survivors of the 2d
Battalion, 61st Infantry, in the day-
light hours and for the rest of the
day faced little opposition. As
evening approached, they heard
the firing on Corregidor diminish,
and Forts Hughes and Drum fell

silent. First Lieutenant Ray G.
Lawrence, USA, and his second in
command Sergeant Wesley C.
Little of Company D, formed his
men together at 1700, and
marched to Kindley Field under a
bedsheet symbolizing a flag of
truce. The Marines soon found
Japanese soldiers, who took their
surrender.

Marine casualties in the defense
of the Philippines totaled 72 killed
in action, 17 dead of wounds, and
167 wounded in action. Worse
than the casualty levels caused by
combat in the Philippines was the
brutal treatment of Marines in
Japanese hands. Of the 1,487
members of the 4th Marines cap-
tured on Corregidor, 474 died in
captivity

The Japanese recognized that
the five-month battle for the
Philippines was seen by the world

as a defining contest of wills
between the United States and
Japan. Lieutenant General Masa-
ham Homma, Japanese comman-
der in the Philippines, recognized
the critical nature of this conflict
when he addressed his combat
leaders in April 1942, saying:

The operations in the
Bataan Islands and the
Corregidor Fortress are not
merely a local operation of
the Great East Asia War .
the rest of the world has con-
centrated upon the progress
of the battle tactics on this
small peninsula. Hence, the
victories of these operations
also will have a bearing upon
the English and the Amer-
icans and their attitude
toward continuing the war.

And so they did.

Beach defenses after the surrender of Corregidor. Note the captured defenders standing in the trenchline.
National Archives photograph
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The Bataan Death March
t dawn, 9 April 1942, Major General Edward P.
King, Jr., commanding Luzon Force, Bataan,
Philippine Islands, surrendered more than 75,000

starving and disease-ridden American soldiers, sailors,
and Marines, and their Filipino allies, to overwhelming
Japanese forces.

He inquired of the Japanese colonel to whom he ten-
dered his pistol in lieu of his lost sword whether the
Americans and Filipinos would be well treated. The
Japanese aide-de-camp indignantly replied: "We are not
barbarians." The forthcoming seven to 14 days would
prove just how barbaric and uncivilized this enemy could
be!

The majority of the prisoners of war were immediately
subjected to robbery of their most trivial keepsakes and
belongings, to personal indignities to their bodies, and
subsequently to a grueling 90-mile enforced march in deep
dust, over vehicle-broken macadam roads, and crammed
into sub-standard rail cars to captivity in the now infa-
mous Camp O'Donnell.

Thousands died enroute from disease, starvation, thirst,
heat prostration, untreated wounds, and wanton execu-
tion. Additional thousands died in this and in equally dis-
reputable prison camps, the direct result of maltreatment
on the Death March.

There were relatively few Marines on the march, when
compared with other members of the American service.
Marine Staff Sergeant Thomas R. Hicks, a field clerk in the
4th Marines, kept a "Record of Events" from 8 December
1941 to 2 May 1942 on Corregidor. It was apparently
shipped off the island on the following day on the subma-
rine Spearfish and arrived at Headquarters Marine Corps
in Washington on 13 August 1942.

When Bataan fell to the enemy on 9 April 1942, Staff
Sergeant Hicks enumerated six officers and 71 enlisted
personnel (including Navy medical) as presumed prison-
ers of war. An additional Marine from an antiaircraft unit
had contracted polio and was left at Bataan's Hospital No.

The majority of captured Marines belonged to two
organizations, the USAFFE-USFIP (finally Luzon Force)
guard detachment and the Marine Air Warning Unit (an
SCR-270B mobile, long-range radar unit). The first was
composed of 43 enlisted Marines and two officers. The lat-
ter also had two officers and 28 communications person-
nel. Nearly all made the Death March.

Former Lieutenant Michiel Dobervich considers him-
self among the more fortunate of the prisoners. For rea-
sons unknown to him, he was selected to drive a GMC
truck loaded with sugar to Camp O'Donnell.

En route, Dobervich was witness to the initial looting,
face slapping, beating, and bayoneting of American and

Filipino captives. Guarded by a Japanese captain and a
soldier with a bayonet at his back, he was helpless in the
rage that welled in him. At Balanga, he saw an Army
brigadier general and other senior staff officers run
through a guantlet of enemy privates, slapped and beaten
as they were robbed of their possessions. At the same
time, Dobervich lost 500 Philippines pesos, his wrist
watch, two fountain pens, and $40 in U.S. currency. A
friend from USAFFE's motor pool and four others were
beheaded when a Japanese found occupation money on
their persons.

Although pain and time have dimmed his memory,
Dobervich believes that he reached Camp O'Donnell in
two days. He and his companions stood at attention in
front of the Japanese commander's quarters for 16 hours,
in terrific heat, without food or water, and he was at last
denegrated by that officer in a haranguing speech on his
character and his likelihood of surviving. They occupied
barracks built for Filipino trainees. Passing out from a
recurrence of malaria, he awakened days later to find that
a Czechoslovakian had saved him from the dying, or
"Zero," Ward by administering quinine to him.

Marine enlisted men of the two detachments fared
much worse. The experiences of two in particular stand
out. Corporal Ted R. Williams and Private First Class
Irwin C. Scott, Jr., were key members of the Air Warning
Unit. Both were in reasonably good health, although
Williams had suffered a minor wound.

Although they and several other Marines of the two
units apparently tried to remain together and to look after
one another, they recalled similar occurrences but also
remembered other things separately.

All recall being forced together either on the Mariveles
airfield or at the Little Baguio motor pool, and being
frisked for their valuables. Some lost food and canteens;
others retained them. Beatings for no apparent reason
were commonplace, and all witnessed varying degrees of
wanton cruelty. Counted off in ranks of four and march-
ing companies of one hundred, their ordeal began on 10
April 1942. The road from Mariveles on the tip of Bataan
to Orani was unimproved, deep in dust and excrement.
On nearing Hospital No. 2 west of Cabcaben barrio, whose
wards and beds were in the open beneath tall tree cover,
they saw both American and Filipino patients turned out
into the line of march, despite the nature of their wounds.
Pitifully few of these survived, falling by the wayside,
bayoneted or beheaded, or ground into pulp beneath
enemy tanks and trucks.

Some recalled seeing Japanese large-caliber guns hur-
ried from the north and emplaced in proximity of the two
hospitals. Groups of prisoners were halted—even
marched back—and placed in front of the artillery in plain
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sight of Americans on Corregidor. Private First Class Earl
C. Dodson, guard detachment, was one of these. Shell
fragments in his ankle from a short round was removed by
a Navy corpsman. At this point, the line of march began
to distintegrate, and the Japs took their frustration out on
the prisoners.

By this time, Williams began to regret having pleaded
ignorance of his ability to drive a truck. After having got-
ten an artillery prime mover started for a group of
Japanese, he and his companions watched with satisfac-
tion as the victors, unable to ply its air brakes, spun it
down the East Road "zig-zag" and over a cliff.

As the Americans topped a rise near Bataan Field, they
were turned off into a small peninsula and stopped for the
first night in a holding pen. Here they were joined by
more Marines, among them a sergeant from the guard
detachment. He instructed the others on the dangers of
drinking stagnant water from roadside pools and carabao
wallows, supplying them with iodine to sterilize their
water. Corporal Willard F. Van Alst shared his iodine with
Scott, but they only rinsed out their mouths with the
insipid liquid. Most of the Marines escaped the shock of
dysentery, which was already wreaking havoc among
other marchers.

The sergeant observed that the front of the column was
seldom selected to rest and thus escaped some of the atroc-
ities that befell stragglers. Gradually, they worked their
way forward into that position. Nevertheless, these
Marines were among one group herded into a field just
south of Pilar and forced to strip and to sit under a blazing
sun within sight of a freely flowing artesian well for sev-
eral hours, apparently a favored Japanese torture.

Williams observed that "unlikely as it seems, especially
amidst the reigning chaos, we did not feel defeated, only
betrayed. This led to a dogged determination and fueled
the desire to survive. Adrenalin pumped and bolstered
courage. Acts of heroism were as common as the multi-
tude of flies, mosquitoes, and the dying."

Scott recalled that after several days the prisoners
appeared to be in total shock. Enroute he saw macabre
examples of man's cruelty to fellow man. Short commu-
nications poles lined Filipino roads. On these, he had seen
at least three prisoners crucified, discarded American bay-
onets impaling their hands or throats, feet and stomachs.
Near the end of the march, he had a recurring dream,
while both awake and in fitful slumber, of lying in a white
bathtub with a clear blue waterfall cascading into his open
mouth.

When at last halted, the Marines were driven into an
area replete with feces of those preceding them, among
dead bodies already crawling with maggots. In a trance
later that night, they were jerked into reality by a driving
rain. They prostrated themselves on their backs out of
sight of their captors to catch raindrops on their faces and
in their mouths.
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On reaching Lubao, an advanced Japanese supply
depot, they marched through towering mounds of collect-
ed American canned goods and rations, a sight that elicit-
ed only their wrath, for they had been starving before the
surrender.

Williams had recently lost his canteen to a Japanese
guard. While passing another American stockpile south of
San Fernando, an incident occurred that he still considers
a miracle. A Japanese non-commissioned officer beside
the road saw among them a Marine with whom he had
been acquainted in Shanghai. Tugged from the line, the
Marine took with him Williams and the other enlisted
Marines alongside him. A short distance away, the
Japanese instructed a cook to serve these selected prison-
ers rice and vegetables simmering together in a cauldron.
All their canteens were filled, and one was given to
Williams. This had been their first food and fresh water
for four days. Williams still agonizes over the fate of the
American who may have forfeited the canteen!

San Fernando was the end of only the first phase of the
Death March. Here they were again penned in filthy
enclosures. Scott told of a rifle shot in the night that stam-
peded him and his fellow prisoners within a steel wire
enclosure. The following morning they were horrified to
discover several men who had been trampled to death.

Here, the 11 Marines who had clung together were sep-
arated. Williams, Willard Van Alst, and Corporal Paul W.
Koziol were crammed into a diminuitive boxcar with 97
others, standing room only. The morning sun beat merci-
lessly on the steel sides, as a "blowtorch on a tin can."
Men fainted standing up; others died in the same position,
the air fouled with the smell of urine and feces. The inter-
minable ride ended at a small rail yard at Capas.

Again, they straggled into a semblance of military
order, to march the remairying six kilometers to Camp
O'Donnell. Williams was of unadulterated praise for
a Fiipina matron and a ,roup of young women who
entered the school grounds laden with baskets of bread,
rice cakes, fresh fruit and other foods and began distribut-
ing them to the starving men. The Japanese captain in
charge brutalized the older woman in their presence,
knocking her down and kicking her. Maintaining her
composure, she rose and continued to dispense her food
stuff. The process was twice repeated, until the officer
gave in to her courage.

In admiration, Williams wrote: "1 shall never live down
the shame of having less valor than that wonderful lady
who risked beatings, humiliation, perhaps even death, to
do what she could for those who had lost the battle. Her
place in heaven is assured by the virtue of our respective
prayers."

That there were no known Marine deaths on the Bataan
Death March can be attributed, survivors claim, to their
basic training as Marines. Their motto today is
"Surrendered, Yes! Defeated, No!"—Richard A. Long



The capture and subsequent loss in
1942 of the original 4th Marines' records
prove at first daunting to any researcher
of the period. The search for source mate-
rial must begin with part IV of LtCol
Frank 0. Hough, Maj Verle E. Ludwig,
and Henry I. Shaw, Jr.'s History of U.S.
Marine Corps Operations in World War II,
vol I, Pearl Harbor to Guadalcanal (Wash-
ington: HistBr, G-3 Div, HQMC, 1958).
This work proved to be the single best
account of the regiment in the fall of the
Philippines.

Other works of value include Hanson
W. Baldwin's "The Fourth Marines on
Corregidor," Marine Corps Gazette, Nov46-
Feb47; Louis Morton, The Fall of the
Philippines, The War in the Pacific: United
States Army in World War II (Washington:
Office of the Chief of Military History,
1953). Also useful were James H. and
William M. Belote, Corregidor: The Saga of a
Fortress (NY: Harper and Row, 1967);
Reports of General MacArthur, vols I and II
(Washington: GPO, 1966); Carl M.
Holloway, Happy, the POW, (Brandon,
Mississippi: Quail Ridge Press, 1981);
Donald Versaw, The Last China Band
(Lakewood, California: Peppertree
Publications, 1990); and William R. Evans,
Soochow and the 4th Marines (Rogue River,
Oregon: Atwood Publications, 1987).

The 4th Marines records which were
brought out from Corregidor by subma-
rine or retrieved from the prison camps
after the war are found in the geographi-
cal and subject files in the Archives
Section, Marine Corps Historical Center.
The Personal Papers Collection proved to
contain valuable items, including the
Thomas R. Hicks journals, which contain
a daily record of events of the regiment.
Also of use were the Reginald H. Ridgely
papers, Curtis T. Beecher memoir, Floyd
0. Schilling papers, Cecil J. Peart papers,
James B. Shimel papers, Carter B.

Simpson memoir, Wilbur Marrs memoir,
and the Charles R. Jackson manuscript.

Many other articles written by Marine
participants or about the 4th Marines in
the defense of the Philippines were con-
sulted for this work.

The best sources, by far, for the 4th
Marines experience in the fall of the
Philippines are the survivors themselves.
Capt Elmer E. Long, Jr., USMC (Ret) and
CWO Gerald A. Turner, USMC (Ret), pro-
vided assistance in locating the surviving
members of the "Old" 4th. More than 100
Marines have been interviewed as well as
men from other services.

J
Michael Miller is Senior Archivist at

.the Marine Corps Research Center at
the Marine Corps University, Quantico,
Virginia. Formerly a member of the
History and Museums Division, he
earned a bachelor of arts degree from the
University of Alabama in 1978 and a mas-
ter of arts degree from Virginia Tech, both
in the field of history. He has authored
articles in such publications as Civil War

History, American History Illustrated, Gettysburg Magazine, and Civil War
Times Illustrated, and has written Even to Hell Itself: The North Anna River
Campaign (1990) and edited John H. Russell, 1872-1947: A Register of his
Personal Papers (1987).
Richard A. Long, author of the sidebars accompanying the text of this pamphlet, has
been an historian in the History and Museums Division for the past 40 years, following
similar duties with both the Army and Air Force in Japan from 1954-1958, service with
the Navy during World War II, and as an Army ordnance officer and historian during
the Korean War. In his four decades with the Corps he has been Curator of the
Commandant's House and Head of the Oral History Unit.
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